

15 December 2010 nicolas.mounet@cern.ch

Electromagnetic fields and beam coupling impedances in a multilayer flat chamber

N. Mounet and E. Métral, CERN BE/ABP/ICE

Keywords: Impedance, Wake, EM fields, Flat, Multilayer

Summary

This paper aims at giving a derivation of the six electromagnetic field components created by an offset point charge travelling at any speed in a flat chamber, i.e. a two dimensional structure consisting of two infinite parallel plates surrounding a vacuum region. The plates are infinite both horizontally and along the direction of the point charge movement. We study the general case where the two plates are made of several layers of linear materials up to infinity in the vertical direction, with no a priori top-bottom symmetry. We find new results for the electromagnetic fields and impedances, generalizing in particular the so-called "Yokoya factors" that are valid under certain conditions only.

Contents

1	Introduction	3		
2	Source charges and currents	4		
3	Maxwell equations			
4	Longitudinal components of the electromagnetic fields 7			
5	5 Transverse components of the electromagnetic fields			
6	Field matching6.1 Boundary conditions at $y = y_1$ 6.2 Boundary conditions at the flat chamber inner surfaces and between each of its layers6.3 Field matching for the outer layers and final solution for the integration constants	11 12 13 21		
7	Electromagnetic force inside the chamber	23		
8	Electric field longitudinal component after integration over k_x 8.1 Direct space charge term of the longitudinal electric field8.2 Wall term of the longitudinal electric field	23 24 24		
9	Beam-coupling impedances9.1Definitions	27 27 27 28 30		
10	Some particular cases 10.1 General simplifications in case of top-bottom symmetry 10.2 Case of two perfectly conducting plates 10.3 A note on the case of a single plate	32 32 33 36		
11	Conclusion	36		
A	cknowledgements	37		
Α	Appendix A: Vector operations in cartesian coordinates A.1 Gradient A.2 Divergence A.3 Curl A.4 Scalar laplacian A.5 Vector laplacian	38 38 38 38 38 38 38		
в	Appendix B: Various relations between vector operations	38		
С	Appendix C: Various properties of the modified Bessel functionsC.1DefinitionsC.2General propertiesC.3Expansion for small argumentsC.4Summation formulaeC.5Integral formulaeC.6A generalization of Schläfli's integrals	 39 39 39 39 40 40 		
D	Appendix D: Consequences of Eq. (6.25) for all the layers boundaries	43		

E Appendix **E**: Inversion of a 2×2 matrix

List of notations

References

1 Introduction

Beam coupling impedances, and more generally the electromagnetic fields created by a travelling beam (also called self-generated fields), are a subject of interest for synchrotrons since many years. Ideally the best approach to compute the impedance in a given synchrotron would be to solve the tridimensional electromagnetic problem for all the elements around the beam, i.e. the beam pipe, collimators, pumping ports, beam position monitors, magnets, and so on. This task requires the extensive and time-consuming use of electromagnetic codes; on the other hand, a first step to evaluate the impedance of a machine that proved to be quite efficient, is to assume first two-dimensional geometries for the main impedance contributors (basically, those contributors that are the nearest to the beam and/or have the highest resistivities), i.e. to assume that they have an infinite length and to compute the fields created by a beam near their center. This way one can actually analytically compute beam-coupling impedances for simple geometries, which has the asset to be much quicker than the use of a tridimensional code, and can also have less limitations, for instance with respect to the frequency range, the beam velocity or the material properties.

Such two-dimensional analytical computations of the beam-coupling impedances have been developed for more than forty years [1]. In particular the axisymmetric case is now fully solved in frequency domain, for a beam pipe made of any multilayer structure with any linear materials, for any frequency and any beam velocity, thanks to e.g. Zotter's formalism [2–6]. For other simple two-dimensional geometries, the usual approach is to deduce the impedance from the axisymmetric case multiplied by some constant form factors [7] depending on the geometry, often called Yokoya [8] or Laslett [9] factors.

However, recently it has been shown that this approach to compute the beam coupling impedances of a flat chamber fails in the case of non metallic materials such as ferrite [10]. Indeed, the hypotheses on which the form factors theories rely break down for general non conductive materials and/or over certain frequency range: in Ref. [9] one is concerned only about perfectly conductive materials in the static case (i.e. at zero frequency), whereas in Refs. [7, 8] one assumes that the beam is ultrarelativistic and that the chamber material is conductive with a skin depth [11, p. 220] much smaller than both the chamber thickness and its half gap. Since the skin depth is a monotically decreasing function of frequency, the latter assumption implies a lower bound in frequency. This approximation is known to break down in the case of many high impedance contributors of the LHC, namely the collimators made of poorly conductive graphite [12], in particular around 8 kHz which is the frequency of the first unstable betatron line in the LHC [5, 13].

There also exists a double-layer formula for the impedances (and wakes fields) of a flat chamber, for a longitudinally gaussian beam, in the specific case of a thin dielectric layer coating (typically an oxide) on metallic plates [14] under again some assumptions on the skin depth in the metallic layer. The general multilayer case with any linear materials has been studied analytically in Ref. [15] with certain approximations (in particular the high frequencies are not considered) and restricted to transverse impedances. In Ref. [16] one can find a detailed analysis for a longitudinally gaussian beam in a chamber made of one or two single-layer conductive plates, giving nonlinearities of both the time domain wake fields and the frequency domain impedances, which were rewritten and used in Refs. [17, 18]. In time domain, some analytic formulae for the wake fields are also given in Ref. [19], restricted to single-layer conductive flat chambers and to the ultrarelativistic case.

Given the limitations of the current analytic formulae and the fact that the multilayer case is certainly of significance when for instance a metallic coating is present on poorly conductive collimator jaws of finite thickness, in particular if the skin depth exceeds the coating thickness, it is highly desirable to provide a general theory on the impedance of a multilayer flat chamber, valid for any linear materials, any beam velocity and any frequency, and giving all nonlinear terms. We will try here to present a gen-

48

50

eral formalism with similar ideas as the original Zotter's formalism for an axisymmetric structure [4, 6], which will enable us to compute analytically the electromagnetic fields and impedance created by a beam in a flat chamber, infinitely long along the beam's direction of movement, infinitely large horizontally, and with an infinite thickness vertically. Both longitudinal and transverse impedances are studied, for a chamber made of any resistive, dielectric or magnetic materials, assuming only their linearity, isotropy, homogeneity (in each layer) and the validity of Ohm's law. We derive here the most general and exact (within the assumptions made, see next section) formulae in frequency domain, in the multilayer case and with all the possible nonlinearities of the electromagnetic fields.

The paper is structured as follows. We start by giving the source creating the electromagnetic fields in the flat chamber in Section 2. Then we introduce Maxwell equations and the various material constants used in Section 3. After that we derive the general expressions for the longitudinal components of the fields for a given horizontal wave number in Section 4, from which the transverse components are then computed in Section 5. The various constants are computed in Section 6, where closed-form formulae are found in the multilayer case. Expressions for the electromagnetic forces on a test particle are then obtained as a function of the longitudinal component of the electric field in Section 7, which is followed by the derivation of the total result for this component (upon integration over the horizontal wave number, i.e. giving the total response from the point-like source) in Section 8. The impedance calculation appears after that in Section 9. Some specific configurations are studied in Section 10. Our concluding remarks follow finally in Section 11.

Note that the whole paper is expressed in SI (or MKSA) units.

2 Source charges and currents

We consider as the source of the electromagnetic fields a point-like macroparticle of charge Q travelling at a speed v along the synchrotron beam line (Os), using the cartesian coordinates (O, x, y, s). Note that s is also assumed to be the azimuthal coordinate along the beam reference orbit in the accelerator – we therefore neglect all curvature effects which is a good approximation for accelerators of long radius of curvature like the LHC; we refer the reader to Refs. [20–25] for details about such effects.

The beam line along the s coordinate is parallel to a flat chamber, i.e. a structure made of two infinitely thick (in the y direction) and large (in the x direction) plates with vertical separation of 2b between them, located at $y = \pm b$, where b is called the half-gap. The flat chamber is supposed to be infinitely long along the ring beam line, so that the structure considered is in a sense two-dimensional (no side effects). In time domain, the source macroparticle charge is supposed to be slightly offset from the plane (Oxs) equidistant to each plate, by an amount y_1 along the vertical direction, so that its coordinates are x = 0 (we take the origin since there is a invariance of the problem upon any translation along the horizontal direction), $y = y_1$ and s = vt [26, p. 5]. In time domain, the corresponding charge density is then¹

$$\rho(x, y, s; t) = Q\delta(x)\delta(y - y_1)\delta(s - vt), \qquad (2.1)$$

which has the same transverse part as the source charge density of Ref. [14]. Here δ is the Dirac distribution, i.e. such that for any function f, $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(x)\delta(x)dx = f(0)$. As expected we get $\iiint \rho(x, y, s; t)dxdyds = Q$ for any volume Ω around x = 0, $y = y_1$ and s = vt.

It is convenient to solve Maxwell equations in frequency domain (neglecting then any transient effects) and this will enable us to get the beam coupling impedances which are the quantities used in many synchrotron instability theories [27, 28]. To do so we write the factor $\delta(s - vt)$ in terms of its Fourier

¹This charge density (and the corresponding current density) is valid for a single passage through the flat chamber. In circular rings we should in principle take into account multiturn effects, in that case a bunch is passing several times at a position s, all separated by an integer number of T_{rev} , the revolution period along the orbit. This means that we have to replace $\delta(s - vt)$ by $\sum_{l=-\infty}^{\infty} \delta(s - v(t - lT_{rev}))$ if at t = 0 the bunch is at s = 0. For this study only single-turn effects are considered. Maxwell equations being linear we could anyway perform such a multiturn sum on the resulting fields we compute in this paper.

spectrum [29, 30]

$$\delta(s - vt) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-jk(s - vt)} dk$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi v} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{j\omega(t - \frac{s}{v})} d\omega$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega e^{j\omega t} \frac{e^{-jks}}{v}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where j is the imaginary constant, and

$$k \equiv \frac{\omega}{\upsilon},\tag{2.3}$$

is the wave number. We drop the factor $\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega e^{j\omega t}$ to proceed to the frequency domain, to get

$$\rho(x, y, s; \omega) = \frac{Q}{v} \delta(x) \delta(y - y_1) e^{-jks}.$$
(2.4)

Since the macroparticle is supposed to travel at the velocity v along the s axis, the current density is obtained in general by [31]

$$\vec{J} = \rho v \vec{e_s}$$

 $\vec{e_s}$ being the unit vector along the s axis. Therefore we get for our source, in frequency domain

$$\vec{J}(x,y,s;\omega) = Q\delta(x)\delta(y-y_1)e^{-jks}\vec{e_s}.$$
(2.5)

We can rewrite Eqs. (2.4) and (2.5) thanks to the horizontal cosine Fourier transform of the $\delta(x)$ factor [14]: similarly as above we have

$$\delta(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-jk_x x} dk_x$$

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(e^{-jk_x x} + e^{jk_x x} \right) dk_x$$

$$= \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \cos(k_x x) dk_x \qquad (2.6)$$

We then obtain for the charge density:

$$\rho(x, y, s; \omega) = \frac{Q}{\pi \upsilon} \int_0^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}k_x \cos(k_x x) \delta(y - y_1) e^{-jks}, \qquad (2.7)$$

We drop now the $\int_0^{+\infty} dk_x$ factor and study first the electromagnetic response to the following source:

$$\tilde{\rho}(k_x, y, s; \omega) = \frac{Q}{\pi \upsilon} \cos(k_x x) \delta(y - y_1) e^{-jks}, \qquad (2.8)$$

which corresponds to a surface charge density on the plane $y = y_1$. The associated current density along the s axis is

$$\tilde{J}(k_x, y, s; \omega) = \frac{Q}{\pi} \cos(k_x x) \delta(y - y_1) e^{-jks}.$$
(2.9)

For a given horizontal wave number k_x , Eqs. (2.8) and (2.9) give the charge and current densities in frequency domain that we will use to solve the electromagnetic fields. They are those of a wave of frequency ω propagating along the *s* axis with a longitudinal wave number *k*. Since Maxwell equations are linear in ρ and \vec{J} (see next section), to obtain the fields for the initial sources in $\delta(x)$ from Eqs. (2.4) and (2.5) we will need to put back the $\int_0^\infty dk_x$ factor and integrate the responses from all the horizontal wave numbers k_x , as in Eq. (2.7). Then to get back to time domain we should put back the $\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega e^{j\omega t}$ factor and integrate our frequency domain solutions.

3 Maxwell equations

The macroscopic Maxwell equations in frequency domain for the electric and magnetic fields \vec{E} and \vec{H} in a general linear, homogeneous and isotropic medium are [4]

$$\operatorname{div}\vec{D} = \tilde{\rho}, \tag{3.1}$$

$$\vec{\mathrm{curl}}\vec{H} - j\omega\vec{D} = \vec{J}, \tag{3.2}$$

$$\vec{\mathrm{url}}\vec{E} + j\omega\vec{B} = 0, \qquad (3.3)$$

$$\operatorname{div}\vec{B} = 0, \tag{3.4}$$

where $\tilde{\rho}$ and $\tilde{J} = \tilde{J}\vec{e_s}$ are given in the whole space by Eqs. (2.8) and (2.9). The electric displacement \vec{D} and the magnetic induction \vec{B} are defined using complex permittivities and permeabilities ε_c and μ

$$\vec{D} = \varepsilon_c(\omega)\vec{E} = \varepsilon_0\varepsilon_1(\omega)\vec{E}, \qquad (3.5)$$

$$\vec{B} = \mu(\omega)\vec{H} = \mu_0\mu_1(\omega)\vec{H}, \qquad (3.6)$$

where ε_c and μ are general frequency dependent complex permittivity and permeability. We will also often use the quantities ε_1 and μ_1 which are the relative complex permittivity and permeability of the medium. ε_0 and μ_0 are the permittivity and permeability of vacuum. As in Ref. [6] (although it is not stated clearly there) we don't have to assume any particular frequency dependence of these properties, but the following expressions [12] can be considered as a relevant example, since they have a fairly general range of validity:

$$\varepsilon_c(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_1(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon_b \left[1 - j \operatorname{sign}(\omega) \tan \vartheta_E\right] + \frac{\sigma_{DC}}{j\omega \left(1 + j\omega\tau\right)},\tag{3.7}$$

$$\mu(\omega) = \mu_0 \mu_1(\omega) = \mu_0 \mu_r \left[1 - j \operatorname{sign}(\omega) \tan \vartheta_M\right].$$
(3.8)

In these expressions, μ_r is the real part of the relative complex permeability, $\tan \vartheta_M$ is the magnetic loss tangent, ε_b is the dielectric constant and $\tan \vartheta_E$ is the dielectric loss tangent. We also consider in this model a simple AC conductivity following the Drude model (see Refs. [11, p. 312] and [32, p. 16], with an opposite sign convention for ω in both references) where σ_{DC} is the DC conductivity of the material and τ its relaxation time. It is here important to note that we assume that Ohm's law (in its local sense, i.e. the proportionality between the induced conductive current density and the electric field, at any point) holds for the media involved. Doing so we neglect magnetoresistance effects (see Refs. [32, pp. 11-15 and 234-239] and [33]) and the so-called "anomalous skin effect" [33–40]. Both might appear at low temperature, and very high magnetic fields for the former (several Teslas), or very high frequencies for the latter (see Ref. [41] for some examples of relevant limits).

Note that Eqs. (3.5) and (3.6) can be derived from the general microsopic Maxwell equations, as shown in Refs. [11, p. 248] and [6, App. A]. Sometimes in the literature the conductivity part of the complex permittivity is not included into the expression of \vec{D} , which was found to lead to an inconsistency when writing the boundary conditions for the electric displacement component perpendicular to a surface between different media, unless some surface charges or currents are taken into account. Therefore here we prefer to include the conductivity part in the complex permittivity to avoid this problem. We refer the reader to Ref. [6] for more details on this subject.

We have written above Maxwell equations for one single homogeneous material; now to describe the whole electromagnetic problem we introduce the superscript (p) to all the quantities related to the properties of the medium when considering a region of space made of one homogeneous material, i.e. with uniform values of ε_c and μ . The space is thus divided into N + M flat parallel layers, the outer boundary of each of them being located at $y = b^{(p)}$, as shown in Fig. 1. N layers are located in the upper part of the chamber (including the vacuum layer between $y = y_1$ and $y = b = b^{(1)}$), for which the superscript of the quantities ε_c , μ and b is with a plus sign, and M layers are located in the lower part of the chamber (including the vacuum layer between $y = -b = b^{(-1)}$ and $y = y_1$), for which the superscript of the quantities ε_c , μ and b is with a minus sign. In these p is between -M and N and is different from zero, and either M or N can be equal to one (case of a structure with no top or bottom plate). Finally, when needed we will assume a positive angular frequency ω . The fields in frequency domain for $\omega < 0$ can be obtained by noticing that all the time domain field components should be real, which means that for any field component φ the quantity

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\omega e^{j\omega t} \varphi(\omega) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\omega \left[e^{j\omega t} \varphi(\omega) + e^{-j\omega t} \varphi(-\omega) \right] = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\omega \left[e^{j\omega t} \varphi(\omega) + (e^{j\omega t} \varphi(-\omega)^{*})^{*} \right],$$
(3.9)

is real (* denotes the complex conjugate). This is true if

$$\varphi(-\omega) = \varphi(\omega)^*. \tag{3.10}$$

Therefore we can use the above equation to compute the field components for negative frequencies.



Figure 1: Cross section of the flat chamber. The regions denoted by the superscript (± 1) are the vacuum regions inside the structure, with the surface density on the plane $y = y_1$ as a separation between them. Subsequent layers can be made of any medium. The last layers, denoted at the top by the superscript (N) and at the bottom by the superscript (-M), go to infinity $(b^{(N)} = -b^{(-M)} = \infty)$. We have also sketched in red the initial beam source, before its horizontal Fourier decomposition using Eq. (2.6), which is a point-like charge at x = 0 and $y = y_1$.

4 Longitudinal components of the electromagnetic fields

We apply Maxwell equations in a region where ε_c and μ are constant (boundary conditions will be considered in Section 6), so that we will omit the superscript $(\pm p)$. Applying the curl operator to Maxwell equation (3.3), we obtain

$$\vec{\mathrm{curl}}\left(\vec{\mathrm{curl}}\vec{E}\right) + j\omega\mu\vec{\mathrm{curl}}\vec{H} = 0$$

Using the "curl curl" relation (Eq. (B.1) of Appendix B), injecting Maxwell equations (3.1) and (3.2), and knowing that $\vec{J} = \tilde{\rho} v \vec{e_s}$, we then get

$$\nabla^2 \vec{E} + \omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu \vec{E} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon_c} \operatorname{grad} \tilde{\rho} + j \omega \mu \tilde{\rho} v \vec{e_s}.$$
(4.1)

Similarly, we can apply the \vec{url} operator to Maxwell equation (3.2) to obtain

$$\vec{\mathrm{curl}}\left(\vec{\mathrm{curl}}\vec{H}\right) - j\omega\varepsilon_{c}\vec{\mathrm{curl}}\vec{E} = \vec{\mathrm{curl}}\left(\tilde{\rho}v\vec{e_{s}}\right),$$

which gives, with Eqs. (3.3) and (3.4), using also the expression of the curl operator in cartesian coordinates from Eq. (A.3) of Appendix A for the right-hand side

$$\nabla^2 \vec{H} + \omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu \vec{H} = v \frac{\partial \tilde{\rho}}{\partial x} \vec{e_y} - v \frac{\partial \tilde{\rho}}{\partial y} \vec{e_x}.$$
(4.2)

Using the expressions of the gradient and the laplacian in cartesian coordinates (see Eqs. (A.1), (A.4) and (A.5) of Appendix A), for the longitudinal field components we can turn the wave equations (4.1) and (4.2) into the following scalar Helmholtz equations

$$\left[\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial s^2} + \omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu\right] E_s = \frac{1}{\varepsilon_c} \frac{\partial \tilde{\rho}}{\partial s} + j\omega \mu \tilde{\rho} \upsilon, \qquad (4.3)$$

$$\left[\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial s^2} + \omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu\right] H_s = 0.$$
(4.4)

In any region where $y \neq y_1$, those equations are homogeneous and we can seek solutions by separation of variables, in the general form X(x)Y(y)S(s). For both E_s and H_s we have

$$Y(y)S(s)X''(x) + X(x)S(s)Y''(y) + X(x)Y(y)S''(s) + \omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu X(x)Y(y)S(s) = 0,$$
(4.5)

where the prime ' denotes the derivative with respect to the argument of the function (e.g. $X'(x) = \frac{dX}{dx}$). This gives, when dividing by X(x)Y(y)S(s)

$$\frac{X''(x)}{X(x)} + \frac{Y''(y)}{Y(y)} + \frac{S''(s)}{S(s)} + \omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu = 0,$$

or equivalently

$$\begin{cases} \frac{X''(x)}{X(x)} = -\omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu - \frac{Y''(y)}{Y(y)} - \frac{S''(s)}{S(s)} = \text{constant} = A, \\ \frac{S''(s)}{S(s)} = -\omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu - \frac{X''(x)}{X(x)} - \frac{Y''(u)}{Y(y)} = \text{constant} = B. \\ \frac{Y''(y)}{Y(y)} = -\omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu - \frac{X''(x)}{X(x)} - \frac{S''(s)}{S(s)} = \text{constant} = -A - B - \omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu, \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

Therefore X, Y and S are solutions of the harmonic differential equation. The constants A and B above can be a priori complex. Defining the square root of a complex number by

$$\sqrt{\alpha e^{j\varphi}} = \sqrt{\alpha} e^{j\frac{\varphi}{2}} \quad \text{with} \quad -\pi < \varphi \le \pi, \tag{4.7}$$

we can then write for X

$$X(x) = \kappa_1 e^{\sqrt{A}x} + \kappa_2 e^{-\sqrt{A}x}$$

Now we know that $X(\pm\infty)$ should stay finite so that the fields stay finite. If $\Re\left(\sqrt{A}\right) \neq 0$, this can be the case only for the trivial solution $\kappa_1 = \kappa_2 = 0$, therefore we can state that $\Re\left(\sqrt{A}\right) = 0$. We will write respectively for the electric field longitudinal component E_s and the magnetic field one H_s :

$$\sqrt{A_{E_s}} = jk_{x_e} \Rightarrow A_{E_s} = -(k_{x_e})^2,
\sqrt{A_{H_s}} = jk_{x_h} \Rightarrow A_{H_s} = -(k_{x_h})^2,$$
(4.8)

where k_{x_e} and k_{x_h} are real numbers. X(x) is therefore a combination of cosine and sine functions with real arguments. Now we notice that the x = 0 plane is a symmetry plane of the whole problem – including boundary conditions and source charges and currents from Eqs. (2.8) and (2.9), corresponding to its invariance with the sign of x. Therefore the electric field should also be symmetric with respect to that plane, and in particular the longitudinal component (which is parallel to the symmetry plane). So $E_s(-x) = E_s(x)$ and there is no sine term in X_{E_s} . This is the opposite for the longitudinal component of H_s : we should imagine current loops creating the magnetic field, perpendicular to it; for the longitudinal part of the field, such loops are perpendicular to the x = 0 symmetry plane, and their reflected images are current loops where the current flows in the opposite direction, in such a way that the magnetic field created by them is opposite. Therefore $H_s(-x) = -H_s(x)$, which means that there is no cosine term in $X_{H_{s}}$.

Therefore we finally get^2

$$X_{E_s}(x) \propto \cos(k_{x_e}x),$$

$$X_{H_s}(x) \propto \sin(k_{x_h}x).$$

In addition, the whole problem exhibits a translational invariance along the s axis, the translation vector being $\frac{2\pi}{k}\vec{e_s}$. Therefore the resulting fields should exhibit the same invariance, which means that like A, B must be real and negative, to prevent any exponentially growing or decaying term in the longitudinal dependence S(s). S(s) can be then taken of the form:

$$S(s) = \kappa_3 e^{-j\sqrt{-B}s} + \kappa_4 e^{j\sqrt{-B}s}$$

From the translational invariance, $\sqrt{-B}$ should then be an integer multiple of k, that we will write lk. If we (temporary) get back to the time domain, applying the inverse Fourier transform $\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega e^{j\omega t}$ we see that we get two terms, one whose integrand is proportional to

$$\kappa_3 e^{j\omega\left(t-\frac{ls}{v}\right)}$$

and the other whose integrand is proportional to

$$\kappa_{A}e^{j\omega\left(t+\frac{ls}{v}\right)}$$

Since this must be invariant with respect to the transformation $(t_0, s_0) \rightarrow (t_0 + t, s_0 + vt)$ for any (t_0, s_0, t) (which is an invariance property of the time domain initial problem), and recalling that $k \equiv \frac{\omega}{v}$, this clearly means that the second term is zero ($\kappa_4 = 0$) and that l = 1. We finally get³

$$B = -k^{2},$$

$$S_{E_{s}}(s) \propto e^{-jks},$$

$$S_{H_{s}}(s) \propto e^{-jks}.$$
(4.9)

For the vertical dependence of the electric field longitudinal component $Y_{E_s}(y)$, we get using Eqs. (4.6), (4.8) and (4.9)

$$Y_{E_s}''(y) - \left(k_{x_e}^2 + k^2 - \omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu\right) Y_{E_s}(y) = 0,$$

and a very similar equation for Y_{H_s} . Now we define the propagation constant as in the cylindrical case [5] (using the definitions of Eqs. (3.5) and (3.6), and the identity $\varepsilon_0 \mu_0 c^2 = 1$ where c is the speed of light in vacuum):

$$\nu^2 = k^2 - \omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu = k^2 \left(1 - \beta^2 \varepsilon_1 \mu_1 \right), \qquad (4.10)$$

²Note that A can be zero, in which case the solution of the harmonic differential equation for X(x) is in the form $X(x) = \kappa_1 x + \kappa_2$, but κ_1 has to be zero otherwise $X(\pm \infty)$ goes to infinity, and for $X_{H_s} \kappa_2$ has also to be zero since $H_s(-x) = -H_s(x)$. Therefore this kind of solution (constant for X_{E_s} , zero for X_{H_s}) is recovered in the general form $X_{E_s} \propto \cos(k_{x_e}x)$ and $X_{H_s} \propto \sin(k_{x_h}x)$ when $k_{x_e} = k_{x_h} = 0$. ³The same as for the horizontal dependence X(x) applies in the case when B = k = 0 (see footnote 2), except that in

this case both S_{E_s} and S_{H_s} are non zero constants.

so that

$$\nu = |k|\sqrt{1 - \beta^2 \varepsilon_1 \mu_1},\tag{4.11}$$

where $\beta \equiv \frac{v}{c}$ is the relativistic velocity factor. Defining then for E_s and H_s the following vertical complex wave numbers

$$k_{y_e} = \sqrt{k_{x_e}^2 + \nu^2}, k_{y_h} = \sqrt{k_{x_h}^2 + \nu^2},$$
(4.12)

we get for the vertical dependence of e.g. E_s (the same is applicable to H_s):

$$Y_{E_s}(y) = \kappa_5 e^{k_{y_e}y} + \kappa_6 e^{-k_{y_e}y}$$

Putting all the integration constants together into Y(y) and reinserting the superscript (p) (p positive or negative) for each layer (note that at that point, $k_{x_e}^{(p)}$ and $k_{x_h}^{(p)}$ could be in principle dependent on the layer), the longitudinal components of the electromagnetic fields in the layer (p) can be finally written

$$E_s^{(p)} = \cos\left(k_{x_e}^{(p)}x\right)e^{-jks}\left[C_{e+}^{(p)}e^{k_{y_e}^{(p)}y} + C_{e-}^{(p)}e^{-k_{y_e}^{(p)}y}\right],\tag{4.13}$$

$$H_s^{(p)} = \sin\left(k_{x_h}^{(p)}x\right)e^{-jks}\left[C_{h+}^{(p)}e^{k_{y_h}^{(p)}y} + C_{h-}^{(p)}e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p)}y}\right],\tag{4.14}$$

where the subscripts in the integration constants $C_{e+}^{(p)}$, $C_{e-}^{(p)}$, $C_{h+}^{(p)}$ and $C_{h-}^{(p)}$ have the following meaning: the letter (e or h) stands respectively for the electric or magnetic field, and the + or - sign stands for the sign in front of $k_y^{(p)}y$ in the exponential corresponding to the constant.⁴

5 Transverse components of the electromagnetic fields

Again, we apply Maxwell equations in a region where ε_c and μ are constant and we omit the superscript (p). Writing the transverse components of Eqs. (3.2) and (3.3) in cartesian coordinates (see Appendix A) and assuming $y \neq y_1$, we have the relations

$$\frac{\partial H_s}{\partial y} - \frac{\partial H_y}{\partial s} = j\omega\varepsilon_c E_x, \tag{5.1}$$

$$\frac{\partial H_x}{\partial s} - \frac{\partial H_s}{\partial x} = j\omega\varepsilon_c E_y, \tag{5.2}$$

$$\frac{\partial E_s}{\partial y} - \frac{\partial E_y}{\partial s} = -j\omega\mu H_x, \qquad (5.3)$$

$$\frac{\partial E_x}{\partial s} - \frac{\partial E_s}{\partial x} = -j\omega\mu H_y.$$
(5.4)

Differentiating with respect to s Eq. (5.4) and combining it to Eq. (5.1), we get, knowing the longitudinal dependence of E_s

$$\frac{\partial^2 E_x}{\partial s^2} + \omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu E_x = -jk \frac{\partial E_s}{\partial x} - j\omega \mu \frac{\partial H_s}{\partial y}.$$
(5.5)

⁴Note that with our definition of ν , we have $\nu(-\omega) = \nu(\omega)^*$. This comes from the fact that $\nu^2(-\omega) = (\nu(\omega)^2)^*$ since $\varepsilon_1(-\omega) = \varepsilon_1(\omega)^*$ and a similar relation for μ_1 , which can be seen in Eqs. (3.7) and (3.8) or more generally in Ref. [11, p. 332]. Then if $\nu^2 = k^2 \alpha e^{j\varphi}$, we have $\alpha(-\omega) = \alpha(\omega)$ and $\varphi(-\omega) = -\varphi(\omega)$ which gives $\nu(-\omega) = \nu(\omega)^*$ from $\nu = |k|\sqrt{\alpha}e^{j\frac{\varphi}{2}}$ (note that to insure this is still true in the particular case when $\varphi(\omega) = \pi$ we need to change the square root definition for negative frequencies, taking $-\pi \leq \varphi(-\omega) < \pi$ instead of $-\pi < \varphi(-\omega) \leq \pi$ in Eq. (4.7)). Since k_{x_e} and k_{x_h} are real, with a similar argument we have $k_{y_e}(-\omega) = k_{y_e}(\omega)^*$ and $k_{y_h}(-\omega) = k_{y_h}(\omega)^*$ from Eqs. (4.12). The same kind of relations apply to the integration constants as they are obtained from linear equations whose coefficients depend on $\varepsilon_1^{(p)}$, $\mu_1^{(p)}$, $\nu^{(p)}$ and exponential functions whose arguments exhibit the same property as above (see Section 6). Therefore from Eqs. (4.13) and (4.14) we have $E_s^{(p)}(-\omega) = E_s^{(p)}(\omega)^*$ and $H_s^{(p)}(-\omega) = H_s^{(p)}(\omega)^*$, and the same relation for the transverse components (from the equations of the next section), which means that Eq. (3.10) is true for the field components without having to apply it "by hand".

In the same way, we can differentiate with respect to s Eqs. (5.3), (5.2) and (5.1), then combine them respectively to Eqs. (5.2), (5.3) and (5.4), to get

$$\frac{\partial^2 E_y}{\partial s^2} + \omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu E_y = -jk \frac{\partial E_s}{\partial y} + j\omega \mu \frac{\partial H_s}{\partial x}, \qquad (5.6)$$

$$\frac{\partial^2 H_x}{\partial s^2} + \omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu H_x = j \omega \varepsilon_c \frac{\partial E_s}{\partial y} - j k \frac{\partial H_s}{\partial x}, \qquad (5.7)$$

$$\frac{\partial^2 H_y}{\partial s^2} + \omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu H_y = -j\omega \varepsilon_c \frac{\partial E_s}{\partial x} - jk \frac{\partial H_s}{\partial y}.$$
(5.8)

At given x and y, these four equations can all be written in the form

$$\frac{d^2\psi}{ds^2} + \omega^2 \varepsilon_c \mu \psi = C_\psi e^{-jks},$$

 ψ being the field component considered, and C_{ψ} a constant with respect to s. The general solution of this equation is

$$\psi(s) = \eta_1 e^{-j\omega\sqrt{\varepsilon_c\mu}s} + \eta_2 e^{j\omega\sqrt{\varepsilon_c\mu}s} + \eta_3 e^{-jks},$$

where η_3 is related to C_{ψ} . The first two terms are obviously not invariant with respect to the translation of vector $\frac{2\pi}{k}\vec{e_s}$ (see Section 4) which means that we have to drop them: $\eta_1 = \eta_2 = 0$. Therefore ψ is proportional to e^{-jks} , the proportionallity constant depending only on x and y. So the transverse components have the same longitudinal dependence as the longitudinal components (i.e. in e^{-jks}), and we can rewrite Eqs. (5.5) to (5.8) in the form (reinserting the superscript (p) to avoid any confusion)

$$E_x^{(p)} = \frac{jk}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left(\frac{\partial E_s^{(p)}}{\partial x} + \upsilon \mu^{(p)} \frac{\partial H_s^{(p)}}{\partial y} \right),$$
(5.9)

$$E_y^{(p)} = \frac{jk}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left(\frac{\partial E_s^{(p)}}{\partial y} - \upsilon \mu^{(p)} \frac{\partial H_s^{(p)}}{\partial x} \right), \qquad (5.10)$$

$$H_x^{(p)} = \frac{jk}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left(-\upsilon \varepsilon_c^{(p)} \frac{\partial E_s^{(p)}}{\partial y} + \frac{\partial H_s^{(p)}}{\partial x} \right),$$
(5.11)

$$H_y^{(p)} = \frac{jk}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left(\upsilon \varepsilon_c^{(p)} \frac{\partial E_s^{(p)}}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial H_s^{(p)}}{\partial y} \right).$$
(5.12)

From their linearity, the above relations are also true for the transverse components of the total fields, i.e. those resulting from the initial point-like source in Eqs. (2.4) and (2.5), after integration over k_x . Note that we have implicitely assumed that $\nu^{(p)} \neq 0$ and will continue to make this assumption in all the following sections. Actually, $\nu^{(p)} = 0$ is possible at the onset of Cherenkov radiation in the layer (p) (see e.g. Refs. [11, p. 637] or [42, p. 406]) but it requires very particular conditions: from the definition of the propagation constant in Eq. (4.11) together with Eqs. (3.7) and (3.8) this would require no losses in the layer, zero conductivity and $\beta = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\epsilon_h \mu_r}}$.

6 Field matching

To specify the field components we need to express the boundary conditions between all the layers. For conciseness of the notations, we will assume from this section onward that the angular frequency ω is positive⁵.

⁵To recover the results at any frequency we would simply need to replace $\frac{k}{\gamma}$ by $\frac{|k|}{\gamma}$ in the expression of the propagation constant of vacuum. See also the end of Section 3 and footnote 4.

6.1 Boundary conditions at $y = y_1$

We know (from e.g. Ref. [11, p. 18]) that the electric field components tangential to a boundary between media is always continuous, giving in particular at $y = y_1$, from Eq. (4.13)

$$\cos(k_{x_e}^{(-1)}x) \left[C_{e+}^{(-1)} e^{k_{y_e}^{(-1)}y_1} + C_{e-}^{(-1)} e^{-k_{y_e}^{(-1)}y_1} \right] = \cos(k_{x_e}^{(1)}x) \left[C_{e+}^{(1)} e^{k_{y_e}^{(1)}y_1} + C_{e-}^{(1)} e^{-k_{y_e}^{(1)}y_1} \right].$$
(6.1)

Since this is valid for any x, $k_{x_e}^{(-1)}$ and $k_{x_e}^{(1)}$ are necessarily equal⁶.

Equation (4.3) is valid across $y = y_1$, and following what is done in Ref. [30], we can integrate it over y between $y_1 - \delta y_1$ and $y_1 + \delta y_1$. Using also Eqs. (2.8) and (4.13) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial E_s}{\partial y} \Big|_{y_1 + \delta y_1} &- \frac{\partial E_s}{\partial y} \Big|_{y_1 - \delta y_1} + \int_{y_1 - \delta y_1}^{y_1 + \delta y_1} \mathrm{d}y \left(-k_{x_e}^{(1)^2} - k^2 + \omega^2 \varepsilon_0 \mu_0 \right) E \\ &= \frac{jQ}{\pi} \cos(k_x x) e^{-jks} \left(\frac{-k}{\varepsilon_0 v} + \omega \mu_0 \right) \int_{y_1 - \delta y_1}^{y_1 + \delta y_1} \mathrm{d}y \delta(y - y_1) \\ &= \frac{-jQ\omega\mu_0}{\pi \beta^2 \gamma^2} \cos(k_x x) e^{-jks}, \end{aligned}$$

where we have replaced ε_c and μ by their values in vacuum ε_0 and μ_0 , and where $\gamma = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-\beta^2}}$ is the relativistic mass factor of the source macroparticle. When δy_1 goes to zero, the integral term in the left-hand side vanishes since E_s is not infinite at $y = y_1$. Replacing E_s by its expression on each side of the boundary and dropping the e^{-jks} factor, we can rewrite the equation as

$$\cos(k_{x_e}^{(1)}x) \left[k_{y_e}^{(1)} C_{e+}^{(1)} e^{k_{y_e}^{(1)}y_1} - k_{y_e}^{(1)} C_{e-}^{(1)} e^{-k_{y_e}^{(1)}y_1} \right] \\ - \cos(k_{x_e}^{(-1)}x) \left[k_{y_e}^{(-1)} C_{e+}^{(-1)} e^{k_{y_e}^{(-1)}y_1} - k_{y_e}^{(-1)} C_{e-}^{(-1)} e^{-k_{y_e}^{(-1)}y_1} \right] = \frac{-jQ\omega\mu_0}{\pi\beta^2\gamma^2} \cos(k_x x). \quad (6.2)$$

This relation, valid at any x, means that we necessarily have

$$k_{x_e}^{(-1)} = k_{x_e}^{(1)} = k_x, (6.3)$$

and consequently, recalling Eq. (4.12) and $\nu^{(-1)} = \nu^{(1)} = \frac{k}{\gamma}$ in vacuum

$$k_{y_e}^{(-1)} = k_{y_e}^{(1)} \equiv k_y^{(1)} = \sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}.$$
(6.4)

We can now divide by $\cos(k_x x)$ both sides of Eq. (6.2). Injecting then Eq. (6.1) taken in the form

$$C_{e+}^{(-1)}e^{k_y^{(1)}y_1} + C_{e-}^{(-1)}e^{-k_y^{(1)}y_1} = C_{e+}^{(1)}e^{k_y^{(1)}y_1} + C_{e-}^{(1)}e^{-k_y^{(1)}y_1}$$
$$\iff C_{e-}^{(-1)} - C_{e-}^{(1)} = \left(C_{e+}^{(1)} - C_{e+}^{(-1)}\right)e^{2k_y^{(1)}y_1},$$

into Eq. (6.2), we get

$$C_{e+}^{(1)} - C_{e+}^{(-1)} = -\mathcal{C}\frac{e^{-k_y^{(1)}y_1}}{k_y^{(1)}},$$

and $C_{e-}^{(1)} - C_{e-}^{(-1)} = \mathcal{C}\frac{e^{k_y^{(1)}y_1}}{k_y^{(1)}},$ (6.5)

⁶If the multiplicating factors in front of both $\cos(k_{x_e}^{(-1)}x)$ and $\cos(k_{x_e}^{(1)}x)$ are zero, we can use the relation (6.2) below (whose demonstration is still valid if $k_{x_e}^{(-1)} \neq k_{x_e}^{(1)}$) to prove that $k_{x_e}^{(-1)} = k_{x_e}^{(1)}$, unless again in the latter relation one of the multiplicating factors in front of either $\cos(k_{x_e}^{(-1)}x)$ or $\cos(k_{x_e}^{(1)}x)$ is zero. But the latter case would mean that for one of the vacuum region (-1) or (1) both E_s and $\frac{\partial E_s}{\partial y}$ are zero at $y = y_1$ which would mean that $E_s = 0$ in the whole region since it is determined by two constants only. Then we could still write $k_{x_e}^{(-1)} = k_{x_e}^{(1)}$ provided the appropriate integration constants are set to zero.

with the definition

$$\mathcal{C} \equiv \frac{jQ\omega\mu_0}{2\pi\beta^2\gamma^2}.\tag{6.6}$$

At $y = y_1$ there is a surface current density flowing along the *s* axis. From Ref. [11, p. 18] we know that only the tangential component of the magnetic field H_x is discontinuous at that point. So H_s is continuous, which gives a relation analogous to Eq. (6.1). Therefore we have⁷

$$k_{x_{b}}^{(-1)} = k_{x_{b}}^{(1)}, (6.7)$$

$$k_{y_h}^{(-1)} = k_{y_h}^{(1)}, (6.8)$$

and

$$C_{h-}^{(-1)} - C_{h-}^{(1)} = \left(C_{h+}^{(1)} - C_{h+}^{(-1)}\right) e^{2k_{y_h}^{(1)}y_1},$$

which we can plug into a similar integration of Eq. (4.4) as what was done above on E_s , but since this time the right-hand side is zero, we get⁸

$$C_{h+}^{(1)} = C_{h+}^{(-1)},$$

$$C_{h-}^{(1)} = C_{h-}^{(-1)}.$$
(6.9)

No further information can be obtained from the boundary condition at $y = y_1$. Indeed, the discontinuity of H_x coming from the surface charge density [11, p. 18] is proportional to the discontinuity of $\frac{\partial E_s}{\partial y}$ as can been seen from Eq. (5.11), since both H_s and its derivative with respect to x are continuous at $y = y_1$. It will then give the same relation as above (Eq. (6.2)).

6.2 Boundary conditions at the flat chamber inner surfaces and between each of its layers

We will now consider the boundary conditions for the subsequent layers, i.e. at each $y = b^{(p)}$ for $1 \le p \le N-1$ and $-M+1 \le p \le -1$. There are no externally imposed surface charge or currents between each layer and all boundaries are perpendicular to $\vec{e_y}$, so according to Ref. [11, p. 18] and Eqs. (3.5) and (3.6) the following relations hold across those boundaries (for any x, s and ω)

$$E_x^{(p)}\left(x, b^{(p)}, s; \omega\right) = E_x^{(p\pm 1)}\left(x, b^{(p)}, s; \omega\right),$$
(6.10)

$$\varepsilon_c^{(p)} E_y^{(p)} \left(x, b^{(p)}, s; \omega \right) = \varepsilon_c^{(p\pm1)} E_y^{(p\pm1)} \left(x, b^{(p)}, s; \omega \right), \tag{6.11}$$

$$E_{s}^{(p)}\left(x,b^{(p)},s;\omega\right) = E_{s}^{((p\pm1))}\left(x,b^{(p)},s;\omega\right),$$
(6.12)

$$H_x^{(p)}\left(x, b^{(p)}, s; \omega\right) = H_x^{(p\pm 1)}\left(x, b^{(p)}, s; \omega\right),$$
(6.13)

$$\mu^{(p)}H_y^{(p)}\left(x,b^{(p)},s;\omega\right) = \mu^{(p\pm1)}H_y^{(p\pm1)}\left(x,b^{(p)},s;\omega\right), \tag{6.14}$$

$$H_{s}^{(p)}\left(x,b^{(p)},s;\omega\right) = H_{s}^{(p\pm1)}\left(x,b^{(p)},s;\omega\right),$$
(6.15)

where in the superscripts the plus sign is selected for the layers in the upper part (y > 0), and the minus sign for the layers in the lower part (y < 0).

We focus first on the upper layers and assume therefore $1 \le p \le N - 1$. Using Eqs. (4.13) and (4.14), Eqs. (6.12) and (6.15) read respectively

$$\cos\left(k_{x_{e}}^{(p)}x\right)\left[C_{e+}^{(p)}e^{k_{y_{e}}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p)}e^{-k_{y_{e}}^{(p)}b^{(p)}}\right] = \cos\left(k_{x_{e}}^{(p+1)}x\right)\left[C_{e+}^{(p+1)}e^{k_{y_{e}}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p+1)}e^{-k_{y_{e}}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}}\right],$$
(6.16)

$$\sin\left(k_{x_{h}}^{(p)}x\right)\left[C_{h+}^{(p)}e^{k_{y_{h}}^{(p)}b^{(p)}}+C_{h-}^{(p)}e^{-k_{y_{h}}^{(p)}b^{(p)}}\right] = \sin\left(k_{x_{h}}^{(p+1)}x\right)\left[C_{h+}^{(p+1)}e^{k_{y_{h}}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}}+C_{h-}^{(p+1)}e^{-k_{y_{h}}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}}\right],$$
(6.17)

⁷When the multiplicating factors in front of the sines are zero, the same as for E_s applies (see footnote 6).

⁸This is actually obvious since in Eq. (4.4) there is no source of discontinuity at $y = y_1$, so no reason for H_s to have a different expression from one side to the other of the plane $y = y_1$.

while Eqs. (6.13) and (6.10), using Eqs. (5.11) and (5.9), can be written

$$\frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left(-\upsilon \varepsilon_c^{(p)} \left. \frac{\partial E_s^{(p)}}{\partial y} \right|_{b^{(p)}} + \left. \frac{\partial H_s^{(p)}}{\partial x} \left(b^{(p)} \right) \right) = \frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} \left(-\upsilon \varepsilon_c^{(p+1)} \left. \frac{\partial E_s^{(p+1)}}{\partial y} \right|_{b^{(p)}} + \left. \frac{\partial H_s^{(p+1)}}{\partial x} \left(b^{(p)} \right) \right),$$

$$\frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left(\left. \frac{\partial E_s^{(p)}}{\partial x} \left(b^{(p)} \right) + \upsilon \mu^{(p)} \left. \frac{\partial H_s^{(p)}}{\partial y} \right|_{b^{(p)}} \right) = \frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} \left(\left. \frac{\partial E_s^{(p+1)}}{\partial x} \left(b^{(p)} \right) + \upsilon \mu^{(p+1)} \left. \frac{\partial H_s^{(p+1)}}{\partial y} \right|_{b^{(p)}} \right),$$

which, using again Eqs. (4.13) and (4.14), become

$$\frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left[-\upsilon \varepsilon_c^{(p)} \cos\left(k_{x_e}^{(p)}x\right) k_{y_e}^{(p)} \left\{ C_{e+}^{(p)} e^{k_{y_e}^{(p)} b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p)} e^{-k_{y_e}^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \right\} + k_{x_h}^{(p)} \cos\left(k_{x_h}^{(p)}x\right) \left\{ C_{h+}^{(p)} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p)} b^{(p)}} + C_{h-}^{(p)} e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \right\} \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} \left[-\upsilon \varepsilon_c^{(p+1)} \cos\left(k_{x_e}^{(p+1)} x\right) k_{y_e}^{(p+1)} \left\{ C_{e+}^{(p+1)} e^{k_{y_e}^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p+1)} e^{-k_{y_e}^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} \right\} \\ + k_{x_h}^{(p+1)} \cos\left(k_{x_h}^{(p+1)} x\right) \left\{ C_{h+}^{(p+1)} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} + C_{h-}^{(p+1)} e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} \right\} \right], \quad (6.18)$$

and

$$\frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left[-k_{x_e}^{(p)} \sin\left(k_{x_e}^{(p)}x\right) \left\{ C_{e+}^{(p)} e^{k_{y_e}^{(p)} b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p)} e^{-k_{y_e}^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \right\} \right. \\ \left. + \upsilon \mu^{(p)} \sin\left(k_{x_h}^{(p)}x\right) k_{y_h}^{(p)} \left\{ C_{h+}^{(p)} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p)} b^{(p)}} - C_{h-}^{(p)} e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \right\} \right] \\ \left. = \frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} \left[-k_{x_e}^{(p+1)} \sin\left(k_{x_e}^{(p+1)}x\right) \left\{ C_{e+}^{(p+1)} e^{k_{y_e}^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p+1)} e^{-k_{y_e}^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} \right\} \right] \right]$$

$$+\nu\mu^{(p+1)}\sin\left(k_{x_{h}}^{(p+1)}x\right)k_{y_{h}}^{(p+1)}\left\{C_{h+}^{(p+1)}e^{k_{y_{h}}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}}-C_{h-}^{(p+1)}e^{-k_{y_{h}}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}}\right\}\right].$$
 (6.19)

Equation (6.16), valid for any x, tells us that $k_{x_e}^{(p)} = k_{x_e}^{(p+1)}$ except in the case when

$$C_{e+}^{(p)}e^{k_{y_e}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p)}e^{-k_{y_e}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} = C_{e+}^{(p+1)}e^{k_{y_e}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p+1)}e^{-k_{y_e}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} = 0$$

If this happens, we can give another expression of Eq. (6.18) using the derivative with respect to x of Eq. (6.17) (that is, the continuitity at $y = b^{(p)}$ of $\frac{\partial H_s}{\partial x}$):

$$-\frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^{2}}}\upsilon\varepsilon_{c}^{(p)}\cos\left(k_{x_{e}}^{(p)}x\right)k_{y_{e}}^{(p)}\left[C_{e+}^{(p)}e^{k_{y_{e}}^{(p)}b^{(p)}}-C_{e-}^{(p)}e^{-k_{y_{e}}^{(p)}b^{(p)}}\right]+ \\ \left(\frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^{2}}}-\frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^{2}}}\right)k_{x_{h}}^{(p)}\cos\left(k_{x_{h}}^{(p)}x\right)\left[C_{h+}^{(p)}e^{k_{y_{h}}^{(p)}b^{(p)}}+C_{h-}^{(p)}e^{-k_{y_{h}}^{(p)}b^{(p)}}\right] \\ =-\frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^{2}}}\upsilon\varepsilon_{c}^{(p+1)}\cos\left(k_{x_{e}}^{(p+1)}x\right)k_{y_{e}}^{(p+1)}\left[C_{e+}^{(p+1)}e^{k_{y_{e}}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}}-C_{e-}^{(p+1)}e^{-k_{y_{e}}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}}\right].$$
(6.20)

Then the case $k_{x_e}^{(p)} \neq k_{x_e}^{(p+1)}$ is possible only if one of the two terms

$$k_{y_e}^{(p)} \left[C_{e+}^{(p)} e^{k_{y_e}^{(p)} b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p)} e^{-k_{y_e}^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \right]$$
$$k_{y_e}^{(p+1)} \left[C_{e+}^{(p+1)} e^{k_{y_e}^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p+1)} e^{-k_{y_e}^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} \right]$$

or

is zero, since $k_{x_h}^{(p)}$ can be equal to only one of $k_{x_e}^{(p)}$ or $k_{x_e}^{(p+1)}$ so that the $\cos\left(k_{x_h}^{(p)}x\right)$ term will combine to at most only one of the two other cosine terms. In such a case in either layer p or layer p+1 both

 E_s and $\frac{\partial E_s}{\partial y}$ are zero at $y = b^{(p)}$ which means that the longitudinal component of the electric field is zero in the whole layer (it is determined by two constants only). Should this happen we can still impose $k_{x_e}^{(p)} = k_{x_e}^{(p+1)}$ by taking the value of the layer that has a non zero E_s , since in the other layer the constants are zeros so the value of the horizontal wave number does not play any role.

We can repeat this argument at each boundary, and also for $-M + 1 \le p \le -1$, and therefore drop the superscript for the quantity $k_{x_e}^{(p)}$. Using also the definition of k_{y_e} in Eq. (4.12) together with Eqs. (6.3) and (6.4) we get

For any
$$p \neq 0$$
 between $-M$ and N , $k_{x_e}^{(p)} = k_x$ and $k_{y_e}^{(p)} = k_y^{(p)} \equiv \sqrt{k_x^2 + \nu^{(p)^2}}$. (6.21)

Very similar arguments can be applied to H_s and $k_{x_h}^{(p)}$: using first Eq. (6.17), and then, if the vertical part of H_s is zero at $y = b^{(p)}$, Eq. (6.19) together with the continuity of $\frac{\partial E_s}{\partial x}$, we prove that $k_{x_h}^{(p)} = k_{x_h}^{(p+1)}$. Applying this at each layer boundary and using Eq. (6.7) enable us to write

For any
$$p \neq 0$$
 between $-M$ and N , $k_{x_h}^{(p)} = k_{x_h}^{(1)}$ and $k_{y_h}^{(p)} = \sqrt{k_{x_h}^{(1)^2} + \nu^{(p)^2}}$. (6.22)

We now want to prove that $k_{x_h}^{(1)} = k_x$. To do so we rewrite Eqs. (6.19) and (6.20) using Eqs. (6.16), (6.21) and (6.22), obtaining

$$\left(\frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} - \frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^2}}\right) k_x \sin(k_x x) \left[C_{e+}^{(p)} e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p)} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}}\right] = \nu \sin\left(k_{x_h}^{(1)} x\right) \left[\frac{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)} \mu^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} \left\{C_{h+}^{(p+1)} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - C_{h-}^{(p+1)} e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}}\right\} - \frac{k_{y_h}^{(p)} \mu^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left\{C_{h+}^{(p)} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p)} b^{(p)}} - C_{h-}^{(p)} e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p)} b^{(p)}}\right\}\right], \quad (6.23)$$

and

$$\left(\frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^2}} - \frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}\right) k_{x_h}^{(1)} \cos\left(k_{x_h}^{(1)}x\right) \left[C_{h+}^{(p)} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} + C_{h-}^{(p)} e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p)}b^{(p)}}\right] = \upsilon \cos\left(k_x x\right) \left[\frac{k_y^{(p)} \varepsilon_c^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left\{C_{e+}^{(p)} e^{k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p)} e^{-k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}}\right\} - \frac{k_y^{(p+1)} \varepsilon_c^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} \left\{C_{e+}^{(p+1)} e^{k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p+1)} e^{-k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}}\right\}\right]. \quad (6.24)$$

The two above equations, valid for any x, show that $k_x = k_{x_h}^{(1)}$ unless (with $v \neq 0$)

$$\left(\frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} - \frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^2}}\right) k_x \left[C_{e+}^{(p)} e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p)} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}}\right]
= \frac{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)} \mu^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} \left[C_{h+}^{(p+1)} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - C_{h-}^{(p+1)} e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}}\right] - \frac{k_{y_h}^{(p)} \mu^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left[C_{h+}^{(p)} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p)} b^{(p)}} - C_{h-}^{(p)} e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p)} b^{(p)}}\right]
= \frac{k_y^{(p+1)} \varepsilon_c^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} \left[C_{e+}^{(p+1)} e^{k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p+1)} e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}}\right] - \frac{k_y^{(p)} \varepsilon_c^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left[C_{e+}^{(p)} e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p)} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}}\right]
= \left(\frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} - \frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^2}}\right) k_{x_h}^{(1)} \left[C_{h+}^{(p)} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p)} b^{(p)}} + C_{h-}^{(p)} e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p)} b^{(p)}}\right]
= 0.$$
(6.25)

Should this happen we could express the same boundary conditions on the subsequent layers, leading to the same conclusion $(k_x = k_{x_h}^{(1)})$. In the end the only case that is problematic is when Eq. (6.25) is true at every boundary, i.e. for $p \neq 0$ between -M + 1 and N - 1. We can actually show (see Appendix D) that in this case the layers must have all the same propagation constant $\nu^{(p)}$, that is, that of vacuum, such that $\varepsilon_1^{(p)}\mu_1^{(p)} = 1$ for any p, and that $H_s = 0$ everywhere in space, meaning that we can still write $k_{x_h}^{(1)} = k_x$ provided we set the constants $C_{h+}^{(p)}$ and $C_{h-}^{(p)}$ to zero for all the layers. The case where $\varepsilon_1\mu_1 = 1$ is in principle possible for a medium different from vacuum, for instance if it's diamagnetic (i.e. $\mu_r < 1$) and slightly dielectric (i.e. $\varepsilon_b > 1$ with $\varepsilon_b - 1$ small compared to 1), with no loss and an infinite resistivity. As a consequence, we can state that

$$k_x = k_{x_h}^{(1)}$$

and consequently

For any $p \neq 0$ between -M and N, $k_{x_h}^{(p)} = k_x$ and $k_{y_h}^{(p)} = k_y^{(p)} \equiv \sqrt{k_x^2 + \nu^{(p)^2}}$. (6.26)

The only unknown coefficients remain the constants in front of the exponential functions in the expression of E_s and H_s of Eqs. (4.13) and (4.14). We have four such constants per layer, so 4(N + M) of them in total. To determine them we will use the continuity at the boundaries between the different materials of $E_x^{(p)}$, $E_s^{(p)}$, $H_x^{(p)}$ and $H_s^{(p)}$. Continuity of $\varepsilon_c^{(p)} E_y^{(p)}$ and $\mu^{(p)} H_y^{(p)}$ give redundant equations, which can be readily seen from Eqs. (5.2) and (5.4) (see also the discussion in Ref. [6] on that subject).

To solve for all the constants of the problem we will first introduce as in Ref. [4] the free space impedance Z_0 and the field \vec{G} which has the same dimension as the electric field \vec{E}

$$Z_0 = \frac{1}{\varepsilon_0 c} = \mu_0 c = \sqrt{\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon_0}}, \qquad (6.27)$$

$$\vec{G} = Z_0 \vec{H}, \tag{6.28}$$

and the corresponding constant coefficients for \vec{G}

$$C_{g+}^{(p)} = Z_0 C_{h+}^{(p)},$$

$$C_{g-}^{(p)} = Z_0 C_{h-}^{(p)}.$$
(6.29)

The continuity of E_s and H_s is given by Eqs. (6.16) and (6.17) which we can now simplify by virtue of Eqs. (6.21) and (6.26):

$$C_{e+}^{(p)}e^{k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p)}e^{-k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} = C_{e+}^{(p+1)}e^{k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p+1)}e^{-k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}},$$
(6.30)

$$C_{g+}^{(p)}e^{k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} + C_{g-}^{(p)}e^{-k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} = C_{g+}^{(p+1)}e^{k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} + C_{g-}^{(p+1)}e^{-k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}}.$$
(6.31)

The continuity of E_x and H_x can be written, from Eqs. (6.23) and (6.24) where the cosine and sine factors have been dropped:

$$\left(\frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} - \frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^2}}\right) k_x \left[C_{e+}^{(p)} e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p)} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}}\right] = \beta \left[\frac{k_y^{(p+1)} \mu_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} \left\{C_{g+}^{(p+1)} e^{k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - C_{g-}^{(p+1)} e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}}\right\} - \frac{k_y^{(p)} \mu_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left\{C_{g+}^{(p)} e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} - C_{g-}^{(p)} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}}\right\}\right],$$

$$(6.32)$$

and

$$\left(\frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} - \frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^2}}\right) k_x \left[C_{g+}^{(p)} e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} + C_{g-}^{(p)} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \right] = \beta \left[\frac{k_y^{(p+1)} \varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} \left\{ C_{e+}^{(p+1)} e^{k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p+1)} e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} \right\} - \frac{k_y^{(p)} \varepsilon_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left\{ C_{e+}^{(p)} e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p)} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \right\} \right].$$

$$(6.33)$$

We can write Eqs. (6.30) and (6.33) in matrix form:

$$\begin{bmatrix} e^{k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} & e^{-k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} \\ \frac{\beta k_y^{(p+1)}\varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{k_y^{(p+1)}\varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}} & \frac{-\beta k_y^{(p+1)}\varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{e-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix} = \\ \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p)}e^{k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p)}e^{-k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} \\ \frac{\beta k_y^{(p)}\varepsilon_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left\{ C_{e+}^{(p)}e^{k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p)}e^{-k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} \right\} + \\ \left(\frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} - \frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \right) k_x \left\{ C_{g+}^{(p)}e^{k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} + C_{g-}^{(p)}e^{-k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} \right\} \end{bmatrix} .$$

This can be readily solved for $\begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{e-}^{(p+1)} \end{bmatrix}$, knowing that the determinant of the left hand side matrix is equal to $-\frac{2\beta k_y^{(p+1)}\varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}$. We get, assuming that $k_y^{(p+1)} \neq 0$ and using the inversion formula of a 2×2 matrix (see Appendix E)

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{e^+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{e^-}^{(p+1)} \end{bmatrix} = -\frac{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{2\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{-\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} & -e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} \\ \frac{-\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} & e^{k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e^+} \\ C_{e^+} \\ C_{e^-} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} e^{k_y^{(p)} \varepsilon_1^{(p)}} & e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \\ \frac{\beta k_y^{(p)} \varepsilon_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} & \frac{-\beta k_y^{(p)} \varepsilon_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e^+} \\ C_{e^-} \end{bmatrix} + \\ \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} - \frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \end{bmatrix} k_x \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} & e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{g^+} \\ C_{g^-} \end{bmatrix} \end{pmatrix} .$$
(6.34)

 $⁹k_y^{(p+1)} = 0$ can happen if $\nu^{(p+1)}$ is purely imaginary (Cherenkov radiation in the layer considered, see e.g. Refs. [11, p. 637], [42, p. 406] or [4, p. 11]) and if $k_x^2 = -\nu^{(p+1)^2}$ from Eq. (6.21). This can be the case for only a finite number of k_x values (one for each layer where $\nu^{(p+1)}$ is purely imaginary), so is not a concern since we will in the end perform a continuous integration over k_x .

Very similarly we can write for $\begin{bmatrix} C_{g+1}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{g-}^{(p+1)} \end{bmatrix}$, from Eqs. (6.31) and (6.32)

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{g+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{g-}^{(p+1)} \end{bmatrix} = -\frac{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{2\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \mu_1^{(p+1)}} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{-\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \mu_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} & -e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} \\ \frac{-\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \mu_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} & e^{k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{g+}^{(p)} \\ C_{g-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\beta k_y^{(p)} \mu_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} & \frac{-\beta k_y^{(p)} \mu_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{g+}^{(p)} \\ C_{g-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\beta k_y^{(p)} \mu_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} & \frac{-\beta k_y^{(p)} \mu_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{g+}^{(p)} \\ C_{g-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\beta k_y^{(p)} \mu_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} & \frac{-\beta k_y^{(p)} \mu_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{g+}^{(p)} \\ C_{g-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\beta k_y^{(p)} \mu_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} & \frac{\beta k_y^{(p)} \mu_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} C_{g+}^{(p)} \\ C_{g-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$\left\{\frac{1}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} - \frac{1}{\nu^{(p)^2}}\right\} k_x \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0\\ \\ \\ e^{k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} & e^{-k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p)}\\ \\ \\ C_{e-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix} \right). \quad (6.35)$$

Let us now define the four following 2×2 matrices, enabling the computation of the values of the constants for the p + 1 region knowing those of the p region:

$$\begin{split} P^{p+1,p} &= \frac{-\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{2\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}} \left[\frac{\frac{-\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}}}{\frac{-\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} e^{k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} \right] \cdot \left[\frac{e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}}}{\frac{\beta k_y^{(p)} \varepsilon_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} - \frac{-\beta k_y^{(p)} \varepsilon_1^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \right], \\ Q^{p+1,p} &= \frac{k_x \left(\frac{\nu^{(p+1)} \varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)}} \right) \left[\frac{\frac{-\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} \right] \cdot \left[\frac{0 \quad 0}{e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}}} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \right], \\ R^{p+1,p} &= \frac{-\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{2\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \mu_1^{(p+1)}} \left[\frac{\frac{-\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} \right] \cdot \left[\frac{e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}}}{e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}}} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \right], \\ R^{p+1,p} &= \frac{-\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{2\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \mu_1^{(p+1)}} \left[\frac{\frac{-\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \mu_1^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} \right] \cdot \left[\frac{e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}}}{\beta k_y^{(p)} \mu_1^{(p)}} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} - \frac{-\beta k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} \right], \\ S^{p+1,p} &= \frac{k_x \left(\frac{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} - 1 \right)}{2\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \mu_1^{(p+1)}} \left[\frac{\frac{-\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \mu_1^{(p+1)}}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} - e^{-k_y^{(p+1)} b^{(p)}} \right] \cdot \left[\frac{0 \quad 0}{e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}}} - \frac{-\beta k_y^{(p)} \mu_1^{(p)}}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}}} \right], \\ \end{array}$$

such that Eqs. (6.34) and (6.35) become

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{e-}^{(p+1)} \end{bmatrix} = P^{p+1,p} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p)} \\ C_{e-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix} + Q^{p+1,p} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{g+}^{(p)} \\ C_{g-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (6.36)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{g+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{g-}^{(p+1)} \end{bmatrix} = R^{p+1,p} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{g+}^{(p)} \\ C_{g-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix} + S^{p+1,p} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p)} \\ C_{e-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix}. \qquad (6.37)$$

We can rewrite these four matrices in the following way

$$P^{p+1,p} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \left(1 + \frac{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p+1)}} \frac{\varepsilon_1^{(p)}}{\varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}\right) e^{\left(k_y^{(p)} - k_y^{(p+1)}\right)b^{(p)}} & \left(1 - \frac{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p+1)}} \frac{\varepsilon_1^{(p)}}{\varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}\right) e^{\left(-k_y^{(p)} - k_y^{(p+1)}\right)b^{(p)}} \\ \left(1 - \frac{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p+1)}} \frac{\varepsilon_1^{(p)}}{\varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}\right) e^{\left(k_y^{(p)} + k_y^{(p+1)}\right)b^{(p)}} & \left(1 + \frac{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p+1)}} \frac{\varepsilon_1^{(p)}}{\varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}\right) e^{\left(k_y^{(p+1)} - k_y^{(p)}\right)b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$(6.38)$$

$$Q^{p+1,p} = \frac{k_x \left(\frac{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} - 1\right)}{2\beta k_y^{(p+1)} \varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}} \begin{bmatrix} -e^{\left(k_y^{(p)} - k_y^{(p+1)}\right)b^{(p)}} & -e^{\left(-k_y^{(p)} - k_y^{(p+1)}\right)b^{(p)}} \\ e^{\left(k_y^{(p)} + k_y^{(p+1)}\right)b^{(p)}} & e^{\left(k_y^{(p+1)} - k_y^{(p)}\right)b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix},$$
(6.39)

$$R^{p+1,p} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \left(1 + \frac{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p+1)}} \frac{\mu_1^{(p)}}{\mu_1^{(p+1)}}\right) e^{\left(k_y^{(p)} - k_y^{(p+1)}\right)b^{(p)}} & \left(1 - \frac{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p+1)}} \frac{\mu_1^{(p)}}{\mu_1^{(p+1)}}\right) e^{\left(-k_y^{(p)} - k_y^{(p+1)}\right)b^{(p)}} \\ \left(1 - \frac{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p+1)}} \frac{\mu_1^{(p)}}{\mu_1^{(p+1)}}\right) e^{\left(k_y^{(p)} + k_y^{(p+1)}\right)b^{(p)}} & \left(1 + \frac{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p+1)}} \frac{\mu_1^{(p)}}{\mu_1^{(p+1)}}\right) e^{\left(k_y^{(p+1)} - k_y^{(p)}\right)b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$(6.40)$$

$$S^{p+1,p} = \frac{\varepsilon_1^{(p+1)}}{\mu_1^{(p+1)}} Q^{p+1,p}.$$
(6.41)

Then we define the 4×4 matrix $M^{p+1,p}$ by

$$M^{p+1,p} = \begin{bmatrix} P^{p+1,p} & Q^{p+1,p} \\ S^{p+1,p} & R^{p+1,p} \end{bmatrix},$$
(6.42)

such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{e-}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{g+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{g-}^{(p+1)} \end{bmatrix} = M^{p+1,p} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p)} \\ C_{e-}^{(p)} \\ C_{g+}^{(p)} \\ C_{g+}^{(p)} \\ C_{g-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(6.43)

When successively applying this relation for subsequent layers in the upper part, we get

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(N)} \\ C_{e-}^{(N)} \\ C_{g+}^{(N)} \\ C_{g-}^{(N)} \end{bmatrix} = M^{N,N-1} \cdot M^{N-1,N-2} \cdots M^{2,1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(1)} \\ C_{e+}^{(1)} \\ C_{g-}^{(1)} \\ C_{g-}^{(1)} \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{M} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(1)} \\ C_{e-}^{(1)} \\ C_{g-}^{(1)} \\ C_{g+}^{(1)} \\ C_{g-}^{(1)} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (6.44)$$

with the definition

$$\mathcal{M} = M^{N,N-1} \cdot M^{N-1,N-2} \cdots M^{2,1}.$$
(6.45)

All the above was performed for the upper part of the chamber, i.e. the layers 1 to N. For the lower part of the chamber we can essentially obtain the same results: for this we simply need to consider p

between -M and -1 and replace the (p+1) superscript by (p-1). This gives the following definitions:

$$P^{p-1,p} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \left(1 + \frac{\nu^{(p-1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p-1)}} \frac{\varepsilon_1^{(p)}}{\varepsilon_1^{(p-1)}}\right) e^{\left(k_y^{(p)} - k_y^{(p-1)}\right)b^{(p)}} & \left(1 - \frac{\nu^{(p-1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p-1)}} \frac{\varepsilon_1^{(p)}}{\varepsilon_1^{(p-1)}}\right) e^{\left(-k_y^{(p)} - k_y^{(p-1)}\right)b^{(p)}} \\ \left(1 - \frac{\nu^{(p-1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p-1)}} \frac{\varepsilon_1^{(p)}}{\varepsilon_1^{(p-1)}}\right) e^{\left(k_y^{(p)} + k_y^{(p-1)}\right)b^{(p)}} & \left(1 + \frac{\nu^{(p-1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p-1)}} \frac{\varepsilon_1^{(p)}}{\varepsilon_1^{(p-1)}}\right) e^{\left(k_y^{(p-1)} - k_y^{(p)}\right)b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$(6.46)$$

$$Q^{p-1,p} = \frac{k_x \left(\frac{\nu^{(p-1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} - 1\right)}{2\beta k_y^{(p-1)} \varepsilon_1^{(p-1)}} \begin{bmatrix} -e^{\left(k_y^{(p)} - k_y^{(p-1)}\right)b^{(p)}} & -e^{\left(-k_y^{(p)} - k_y^{(p-1)}\right)b^{(p)}} \\ e^{\left(k_y^{(p)} + k_y^{(p-1)}\right)b^{(p)}} & e^{\left(k_y^{(p-1)} - k_y^{(p)}\right)b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix},$$
(6.47)

$$R^{p-1,p} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \left(1 + \frac{\nu^{(p-1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p-1)}} \frac{\mu_1^{(p)}}{\mu_1^{(p-1)}}\right) e^{\left(k_y^{(p)} - k_y^{(p-1)}\right)b^{(p)}} & \left(1 - \frac{\nu^{(p-1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p-1)}} \frac{\mu_1^{(p)}}{\mu_1^{(p-1)}}\right) e^{\left(-k_y^{(p)} - k_y^{(p-1)}\right)b^{(p)}} \\ \left(1 - \frac{\nu^{(p-1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p-1)}} \frac{\mu_1^{(p)}}{\mu_1^{(p-1)}}\right) e^{\left(k_y^{(p)} + k_y^{(p-1)}\right)b^{(p)}} & \left(1 + \frac{\nu^{(p-1)^2}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \frac{k_y^{(p)}}{k_y^{(p-1)}} \frac{\mu_1^{(p)}}{\mu_1^{(p-1)}}\right) e^{\left(k_y^{(p-1)} - k_y^{(p)}\right)b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$(6.48)$$

$$S^{p-1,p} = \frac{\varepsilon_1^{(p-1)}}{\mu_1^{(p-1)}} Q^{p-1,p}.$$
(6.49)

We can then define the 4×4 matrix $M^{p-1,p}$ by

$$M^{p-1,p} = \begin{bmatrix} P^{p-1,p} & Q^{p-1,p} \\ S^{p-1,p} & R^{p-1,p} \end{bmatrix},$$
(6.50)

and the relations between the integration constants for $-M+1 \leq p \leq -1$ become

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{e^+}^{(p-1)} \\ C_{e^-}^{(p-1)} \\ C_{g^+}^{(p-1)} \\ C_{g^-}^{(p-1)} \end{bmatrix} = M^{p-1,p} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e^+}^{(p)} \\ C_{e^-}^{(p)} \\ C_{g^+}^{(p)} \\ C_{g^+}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(6.51)

When successively applying this relation for subsequent layers in the lower part, we get

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(-M)} \\ C_{e-}^{(-M)} \\ C_{g+}^{(-M)} \\ C_{g-}^{(-M)} \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{M}' \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(-1)} \\ C_{e-}^{(-1)} \\ C_{g+}^{(-1)} \\ C_{g+}^{(-1)} \\ C_{g-}^{(-1)} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (6.52)$$

with

$$\mathcal{M}' = M^{-M, -M+1} \cdot M^{-M+1, -M+2} \cdots M^{-2, -1}.$$
(6.53)

Finally, for reasons that will appear later in Section 8, it is better to rewrite Eqs. (6.44) and (6.52) in a form involving three constants of layer 1 ($C_{e+}^{(1)}$, $C_{g+}^{(1)}$ and $C_{g-}^{(1)}$) and one of layer -1 ($C_{e-}^{(-1)}$). We can do so using Eqs. (6.5) and (6.9):

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(N)} \\ C_{e-}^{(N)} \\ C_{g+}^{(N)} \\ C_{g-}^{(N)} \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{M} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(1)} \\ C_{e-}^{(-1)} + C \frac{e^{k_y^{(1)}y_1}}{k_y^{(1)}} \\ C_{g+}^{(1)} \\ C_{g-}^{(1)} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (6.54)$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(-M)} \\ C_{g+}^{(-M)} \\ C_{g+}^{(-M)} \\ C_{g+}^{(-M)} \\ C_{g-}^{(-M)} \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{M}' \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(1)} + C \frac{e^{-k_y^{(1)}y_1}}{k_y^{(1)}} \\ C_{e-}^{(-1)} \\ C_{g+}^{(-1)} \\ C_{g+}^{(1)} \\ C_{g+}^{(1)} \\ C_{g+}^{(1)} \end{bmatrix}. \qquad (6.55)$$

6.3 Field matching for the outer layers and final solution for the integration constants

The outer layers go to infinity in the y direction, which can have two different implications in terms of the electromagnetic fields at infinity. If in an outer layer $k_y^{(p)}$ has a non zero real part, this must be strictly positive according to the definition of $k_y^{(p)}$ in Eq. (6.21) and that of the square root in Eq. (4.7). Then in the layer considered the only possible exponential solution in y is the one with a sign opposite to that of y in the layer, since the other exponential would grow to infinity. In other words for the layer N we necessarily have $C_{e+}^{(N)} = C_{g+}^{(N)} = 0$ while for the layer -M we get $C_{e-}^{(-M)} = C_{g-}^{(-M)} = 0$. The condition will be the same (but for a different reason) if k_y is purely imaginary in the layer considered,

The condition will be the same (but for a different reason) if k_y is purely imaginary in the layer considered, which can happen for sufficiently low k_x if ν^2 is real and strictly negative in that layer. In that situation Cherenkov radiation [11, p. 637] occurs in the outer layer, and since there is (in our geometrical model) no other material beyond the outer layer, we cannot have any incoming wave: there should be only outcoming radiation whose wave vector is directed toward the outside of the chamber. Due to our choice of convention for the Fourier transform – see e.g. Eq. (2.2) – we must have an exponential term of the form $e^{-jk_y^{rad}y}$ in the field components, with $k_y^{rad} \ge 0$ in the top layer N and $k_y^{rad} \le 0$ in the bottom layer -M, because in time domain the factor $e^{j(\omega t - k_y^{rad}y)}$ represents outcoming propagation in these conditions only (this can also be seen in Eq. (2.4) for the propagation along s). Then, since the imaginary part of the square root of a negative number is always positive according to Eq. (4.7), we have in any case

$$C_{e+}^{(N)} = C_{g+}^{(N)} = 0 \qquad \text{for the top layer,} C_{e-}^{(-M)} = C_{g-}^{(-M)} = 0 \qquad \text{for the bottom one.}$$
(6.56)

Note that Cherenkov radiation can occur in the air due to its small dielectric susceptibility, for γ sufficiently high. The effect on the beam-coupling impedance was discussed for instance in Ref. [43].

From Eqs. (6.54), (6.55) and (6.56), we get the following system

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{M}_{11} & \mathcal{M}_{12} & \mathcal{M}_{13} & \mathcal{M}_{14} \\ \mathcal{M}_{31} & \mathcal{M}_{32} & \mathcal{M}_{33} & \mathcal{M}_{34} \\ \mathcal{M}'_{21} & \mathcal{M}'_{22} & \mathcal{M}'_{23} & \mathcal{M}'_{24} \\ \mathcal{M}'_{41} & \mathcal{M}'_{42} & \mathcal{M}'_{43} & \mathcal{M}'_{44} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e^+}^{(1)} \\ C_{e^-}^{(-1)} \\ C_{g^+}^{(1)} \\ C_{g^+}^{(1)} \\ C_{g^-}^{(1)} \end{bmatrix} = -\frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_y^{(1)}} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{M}_{12}e^{k_y^{(1)}y_1} \\ \mathcal{M}_{32}e^{k_y^{(1)}y_1} \\ \mathcal{M}'_{21}e^{-k_y^{(1)}y_1} \\ \mathcal{M}'_{41}e^{-k_y^{(1)}y_1} \end{bmatrix},$$
(6.57)

where e.g. \mathcal{M}_{rs} is the component in row r and column s of the matrix \mathcal{M} . If we now call \mathcal{P} the 4×4 matrix on the left hand side, we get the constants we look for as

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(1)} \\ C_{e-}^{(-1)} \\ C_{g+}^{(1)} \\ C_{g-}^{(1)} \end{bmatrix} = -\frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_y^{(1)}} \mathcal{P}^{-1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{M}_{12} e^{k_y^{(1)} y_1} \\ \mathcal{M}_{32} e^{k_y^{(1)} y_1} \\ \mathcal{M}_{21} e^{-k_y^{(1)} y_1} \\ \mathcal{M}_{21}' e^{-k_y^{(1)} y_1} \end{bmatrix},$$
(6.58)

or more explicitely:

$$C_{e+}^{(1)} = -\frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_y^{(1)}} \left[\left\{ (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{11} \mathcal{M}_{12} + (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{12} \mathcal{M}_{32} \right\} e^{k_y^{(1)}y_1} \\ + \left\{ (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{13} \mathcal{M}_{21}' + (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{14} \mathcal{M}_{41}' \right\} e^{-k_y^{(1)}y_1} \right], \\ C_{e-}^{(-1)} = -\frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_y^{(1)}} \left[\left\{ (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{21} \mathcal{M}_{12} + (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{22} \mathcal{M}_{32} \right\} e^{k_y^{(1)}y_1} \\ + \left\{ (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{23} \mathcal{M}_{21}' + (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{24} \mathcal{M}_{41}' \right\} e^{-k_y^{(1)}y_1} \right], \\ C_{g+}^{(1)} = -\frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_y^{(1)}} \left[\left\{ (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{31} \mathcal{M}_{12} + (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{32} \mathcal{M}_{32} \right\} e^{k_y^{(1)}y_1} \\ + \left\{ (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{33} \mathcal{M}_{21}' + (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{34} \mathcal{M}_{41}' \right\} e^{-k_y^{(1)}y_1} \right], \\ C_{g-}^{(1)} = -\frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_y^{(1)}} \left[\left\{ (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{41} \mathcal{M}_{12} + (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{42} \mathcal{M}_{32} \right\} e^{k_y^{(1)}y_1} \\ + \left\{ (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{43} \mathcal{M}_{21}' + (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{44} \mathcal{M}_{41}' \right\} e^{-k_y^{(1)}y_1} \right].$$
(6.59)

From this all the constants for all the layers p can be computed thanks to Eqs. (6.5), (6.9), (6.43) and (6.51).

Note that the matrices \mathcal{P} , \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{M}' do not depend on y_1 , the offset of the source, since the matrices $M^{p+1,p}$ and $M^{p-1,p}$ do not depend on y_1 . We can therefore define the following functions of k_x (that are also functions of ω , β and the materials properties, but independent of y_1):

$$\chi_{1}(k_{x}) = (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{11} \mathcal{M}_{12} + (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{12} \mathcal{M}_{32},$$

$$\chi_{2}(k_{x}) = (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{21} \mathcal{M}_{12} + (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{22} \mathcal{M}_{32},$$

$$\eta_{1}(k_{x}) = (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{13} \mathcal{M}_{21}' + (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{14} \mathcal{M}_{41}',$$

$$\eta_{2}(k_{x}) = (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{23} \mathcal{M}_{21}' + (\mathcal{P}^{-1})_{24} \mathcal{M}_{41}',$$

(6.60)

such that we can write the constants for the electric fields in the following compact way

$$C_{e+}^{(1)} = -\frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_y^{(1)}} \left[\chi_1(k_x) e^{k_y^{(1)} y_1} + \eta_1(k_x) e^{-k_y^{(1)} y_1} \right],$$

$$C_{e-}^{(-1)} = -\frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_y^{(1)}} \left[\chi_2(k_x) e^{k_y^{(1)} y_1} + \eta_2(k_x) e^{-k_y^{(1)} y_1} \right].$$
(6.61)

Therefore, to compute the constants of the electric field longitudinal component (which is the one needed to calculate the electromagnetic force and impedances as we will see below), we only need to perform multiplications of 4×4 matrices and one inversion of a 4×4 matrix. The final inversion can even be limited to the computation of only 8 coefficients of the inverted matrix, which can be done using e.g. the cofactor method.

7 Electromagnetic force inside the chamber

To study the dynamics of a passing beam inside the chamber, we need to calculate the Lorentz electromagnetic force \vec{F} on a given test particle. We assume such a particle has a charge of q and the same velocity as the source, namely $\vec{v} = v\vec{e_s}$. The longitudinal component of the force acting on this particle in the vacuum region is written (dropping the superscript (-1) or (1) for conciseness)

$$F_s = qE_s,\tag{7.1}$$

while the transverse components are (using Eqs. (5.9) to (5.12) and recalling that $\nu = \frac{k}{\gamma}$ in vacuum)

$$F_x = q \left(E_x - \upsilon \mu_0 H_y \right) = \frac{jq\gamma^2}{k} \left(1 - \beta^2 \right) \frac{\partial E_s}{\partial x},$$

$$F_y = q \left(E_y + \upsilon \mu_0 H_x \right) = \frac{jq\gamma^2}{k} \left(1 - \beta^2 \right) \frac{\partial E_s}{\partial y}.$$

After simplification we obtain

$$F_x = \frac{jq}{k} \frac{\partial E_s}{\partial x},\tag{7.2}$$

$$F_y = \frac{jq}{k} \frac{\partial E_s}{\partial y}.$$
(7.3)

The three relations (7.1), (7.2) and (7.3) are linear so valid also for the total fields obtained after integration over k_x from 0 to ∞ , i.e. the fields coming from our initial source in Eqs. (2.4) and (2.5). Therefore the force components can be computed with the knowledge of the longitudinal component of the electric field only.

8 Electric field longitudinal component after integration over k_x

We now want to go back to our initial problem with the source charge and current densities in frequency domain given by Eqs. (2.4) and (2.5). To do so we have to perform the integration over k_x , i.e (see Section 2) to plug back the factor $\int_0^\infty dk_x$ in front of the field responses we have computed in the previous sections, and perform the integration. We will do this only for E_s since this is the component needed to compute the electromagnetic force (see Section 7). The following analysis could be done in a very similar way for H_s as well (for the wall term only since there is no direct space-charge term in H_s). From Eqs. (4.13), (6.4) and (6.5) we first write E_s in both vacuum layers, for a given k_x :

$$E_{s}^{(1)} = \cos(k_{x}x) e^{-jks} \left[C_{e+}^{(1)} e^{k_{y}^{(1)}y} + C_{e-}^{(-1)} e^{-k_{y}^{(1)}y} + \frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_{y}^{(1)}} e^{k_{y}^{(1)}(y_{1}-y)} \right],$$

$$E_{s}^{(-1)} = \cos(k_{x}x) e^{-jks} \left[C_{e+}^{(1)} e^{k_{y}^{(1)}y} + C_{e-}^{(-1)} e^{-k_{y}^{(1)}y} + \frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_{y}^{(1)}} e^{k_{y}^{(1)}(y-y_{1})} \right].$$
(8.1)

We will essentially identify two terms in E_s : one is the direct space charge term, that would be the only one present in the absence of any chamber (i.e. if the whole space were considered to be vacuum) and the other one will be called the wall term, entirely due to the flat chamber's presence.

8.1 Direct space charge term of the longitudinal electric field

If there were no chamber around the beam, the finiteness of the fields for $y \to \pm \infty$ prevents any growing exponential in y in the expression of E_s . Therefore, since $k_y^{(1)} = \sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}$ is real and strictly positive, we must have $C_{e+}^{(1)} = C_{e-}^{(-1)} = 0$. From the above Eqs. (8.1) we clearly have

$$E_s^{(1),SC} = \frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_y^{(1)}} \cos\left(k_x x\right) e^{-jks} e^{k_y^{(1)}(y_1 - y)} \quad \text{and} \quad E_s^{(-1),SC} = \frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_y^{(1)}} \cos\left(k_x x\right) e^{-jks} e^{k_y^{(1)}(y - y_1)}, \tag{8.2}$$

where the superscript "SC" stands for "direct space-charge". Recalling that $k_y^{(1)} = \sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}$ from Eq. (6.4) and noticing that in layer (1) we have $y_1 - y < 0$ while in layer (-1), $y - y_1 < 0$, we can integrate over k_x those formulae using Eq. (C.17). This gives the same result for both regions:

$$E_{s,tot}^{vac,SC} = \mathcal{C}e^{-jks}K_0\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sqrt{x^2 + (y-y_1)^2}\right),\tag{8.3}$$

where K_0 is the modified Bessel function of the second kind of order 0, the subscript "tot" stands for the total fields created by the source in Eqs. (2.4) and (2.5) and the superscript "vac" stands for the fields in the vacuum region.

We can generalize this formula for a source at $x = x_1$ instead of x = 0, which is straightforward from the continuous translation invariance of the electromagnetic configuration along the x axis: we simply need to replace x by $x - x_1$:

$$E_{s,tot}^{vac,SC} = Ce^{-jks} K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{(x-x_1)^2 + (y-y_1)^2}\right).$$
(8.4)

8.2 Wall term of the longitudinal electric field

The wall term of the fields is the part of the fields due to the chamber, or in other words the total fields minus the direct space-charge term we have considered in the previous section. From Eqs. (8.1) and (8.2) the wall part of the field has the same expression in both regions 1 and -1, and we can write:

$$E_s^{vac,W} = \cos\left(k_x x\right) e^{-jks} \left[C_{e+}^{(1)} e^{k_y^{(1)}y} + C_{e-}^{(-1)} e^{-k_y^{(1)}y} \right],$$

where the superscript "W" stands for the wall part of the field component. Upon integration over k_x , the wall part of the total longitudinal electric field from our initial source in Eqs. (2.4) and (2.5) is

$$E_{s,tot}^{vac,W} = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}k_x \cos\left(k_x x\right) e^{-jks} \left[C_{e+}^{(1)} e^{k_y^{(1)}y} + C_{e-}^{(-1)} e^{-k_y^{(1)}y} \right].$$
(8.5)

A direct analytical integration of this equation in the general case (given the very complicated expression of $C_{e+}^{(1)}$ and $C_{e-}^{(-1)}$, see Section 6) looks like an impossible task, or at least very difficult. But we will show below how we can put this into another form in order to identify the dependencies in the test particle coordinates as well as in the source macroparticle offset y_1 .

To do so the idea is to try to get back to a formula in the form of a series involving modified Bessel functions of the first kind I_m of argument proportional to the coordinates of the source and test particles, in a similar way to what was found in the case of an axisymmetric geometry [6]. The advantage of this would be that it is easy to approximate these Bessel functions in the case of small displacements from the origin, in such a way that one can restric ourselves to the first terms of the series.

We begin by introducing the cylindrical coordinates (r, θ, s) associated to the cartesian ones we have

considered up to now. We have then $x = r \cos \theta$ and $y = r \sin \theta$. For convenience we make an additional change of angle, defining ϕ as

$$\phi = \theta - \frac{\pi}{2},$$

such that

$$x = -r\sin\phi$$
 and $y = r\cos\phi$

Then from the invariance of $E_{s,tot}^{vac,W}$ with the sign of x we have the symmetry relation

$$E_{s,tot}^{vac,W}(r,-\phi,s) = E_{s,tot}^{vac,W}(x=r\sin\phi, y=r\cos\phi, s)$$
$$= E_{s,tot}^{vac,W}(x=-r\sin\phi, y=r\cos\phi, s)$$
$$= E_{s,tot}^{vac,W}(r,\phi, s).$$

The main idea is then to decompose $E_{s,tot}^{vac,W}$ into a Fourier series with respect to the angle ϕ . Since this function is even, there is no sine term in the series and the coefficients are given by [44]:

$$a_n = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \cos(n\phi) E_{s,tot}^{vac,W}$$

such that

$$E_{s,tot}^{vac,W} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{a_n}{1+\delta_{n0}} \cos\left(n\phi\right),\tag{8.6}$$

where $\delta_{n0} = 1$ if n = 0, 0 otherwise. Using first the parity of $E_{s,tot}^{vac,W}$ with ϕ , recalling that $k_y^{(1)} = \sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}$ and inverting then the order in the integrals in k_x and ϕ , we can obtain for a_n :

$$a_{n} = \frac{2}{\pi} e^{-jks} \int_{0}^{\pi} d\phi \cos(n\phi) \int_{0}^{\infty} dk_{x} \cos\left(k_{x}r\sin\phi\right) \left[C_{e+}^{(1)} e^{\sqrt{k_{x}^{2} + \frac{k^{2}}{\gamma^{2}}r\cos\phi}} + C_{e-}^{(-1)} e^{-\sqrt{k_{x}^{2} + \frac{k^{2}}{\gamma^{2}}r\cos\phi}} \right]$$
$$= \frac{2}{\pi} e^{-jks} \int_{0}^{\infty} dk_{x} \left[C_{e+}^{(1)} \int_{0}^{\pi} d\phi \cos(n\phi) \cos\left(k_{x}r\sin\phi\right) e^{-r\cos\phi\sqrt{k_{x}^{2} + \frac{k^{2}}{\gamma^{2}}}} \right]$$
$$+ C_{e-}^{(-1)} \int_{0}^{\pi} d\phi \cos(n\phi) \cos\left(k_{x}r\sin\phi\right) e^{-r\cos\phi\sqrt{k_{x}^{2} + \frac{k^{2}}{\gamma^{2}}}} \right]$$
$$= \frac{2}{\pi} e^{-jks} \int_{0}^{\infty} dk_{x} \left[C_{e+}^{(1)} + (-1)^{n} C_{e-}^{(-1)} \right] \int_{0}^{\pi} d\phi \cos(n\phi) \cos\left(k_{x}r\sin\phi\right) e^{-r\cos\phi\sqrt{k_{x}^{2} + \frac{k^{2}}{\gamma^{2}}}},$$

thanks to the change of variable $\phi \to \pi - \phi$ for the second integral in ϕ . It turns out that the final integral in ϕ can be computed analytically as shown in Appendix C.6. By virtue of Eq. (C.27) we get

$$a_{n} = e^{-jks} I_{n} \left(\frac{kr}{\gamma}\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} dk_{x} \left[C_{e+}^{(1)} + (-1)^{n} C_{e-}^{(-1)}\right] \left[\left(k_{x} + \sqrt{k_{x}^{2} + \frac{k^{2}}{\gamma^{2}}}\right)^{-n} \frac{k^{n}}{\gamma^{n}} + \left(k_{x} + \sqrt{k_{x}^{2} + \frac{k^{2}}{\gamma^{2}}}\right)^{n} \frac{\gamma^{n}}{k^{n}}\right]$$

$$= e^{-jks} \frac{k}{\gamma} I_{n} \left(\frac{kr}{\gamma}\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} du \left[C_{e+}^{(1)} + (-1)^{n} C_{e-}^{(-1)}\right] \cosh u \left[(\cosh u + \sinh u)^{-n} + (\cosh u + \sinh u)^{n}\right]$$
with the change of variable $k_{x} = \frac{k}{\gamma} \sinh u$

$$= e^{-jks} \frac{2k}{\gamma} I_{n} \left(\frac{kr}{\gamma}\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} du \left[C_{e+}^{(1)} + (-1)^{n} C_{e-}^{(-1)}\right] \cosh u \cosh (nu) . \tag{8.7}$$

This, when combined with (8.6), gives the dependence of E_s in the test particle transverse position (r, ϕ) . To get the dependence in the source particle position we need some additional steps. First, in a_n

we replace $C_{e+}^{(1)}$ and $C_{e-}^{(-1)}$ by their expressions from Eqs. (6.61), using the fact that $k_x = \frac{k}{\gamma} \sinh u$ and $k_y^{(1)} = \frac{k}{\gamma} \cosh u$ in our change of variable:

$$a_{n} = -2\mathcal{C}e^{-jks}I_{n}\left(\frac{kr}{\gamma}\right)\int_{0}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}u\left[\left\{\chi_{1}\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sinh u\right)e^{\frac{ky_{1}}{\gamma}\cosh u} + \eta_{1}\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sinh u\right)e^{-\frac{ky_{1}}{\gamma}\cosh u}\right\}\right.\\ \left. + (-1)^{n}\left\{\chi_{2}\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sinh u\right)e^{\frac{ky_{1}}{\gamma}\cosh u} + \eta_{2}\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sinh u\right)e^{-\frac{ky_{1}}{\gamma}\cosh u}\right\}\right]\cosh\left(nu\right).$$

From Eqs. (C.12) and (C.13) applied with $z = \frac{ky_1}{\gamma}$, this can be decomposed into

$$\begin{aligned} a_n &= -4\mathcal{C}e^{-jks}I_n\left(\frac{kr}{\gamma}\right)\int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}u\cosh\left(nu\right)\sum_{m=0}^\infty\frac{\cosh\left(mu\right)}{1+\delta_{m0}}I_m\left(\frac{ky_1}{\gamma}\right)\left[\chi_1\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sinh u\right)\right.\\ &\left.+(-1)^m\eta_1\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sinh u\right)+(-1)^n\chi_2\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sinh u\right)+(-1)^{m+n}\eta_2\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sinh u\right)\right].\end{aligned}$$

Now we can invert the order of the integral and the sum, before plugging the result into Eq. (8.6), to obtain finally (using also $\phi = \theta - \frac{\pi}{2}$):

$$E_{s,tot}^{vac,W} = -4\mathcal{C}e^{-jks} \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_{mn}\cos\left[n\left(\theta - \frac{\pi}{2}\right)\right]}{\left(1 + \delta_{m0}\right)\left(1 + \delta_{n0}\right)} I_m\left(\frac{ky_1}{\gamma}\right) I_n\left(\frac{kr}{\gamma}\right),\tag{8.8}$$

with α_{mn} defined by the integral

$$\alpha_{mn} = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}u \cosh\left(mu\right) \cosh\left(nu\right) \left[\chi_1\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sinh u\right) + (-1)^m \eta_1\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sinh u\right) + (-1)^m \eta_2\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sinh u\right) + (-1)^{m+n} \eta_2\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sinh u\right)\right]. \quad (8.9)$$

The coefficients α_{mn} depend only on the functions η_1 , η_2 , χ_1 and χ_2 so only on the chamber properties and on ω and β (see Section 6.3). The infinite integrals involved are fastly converging, so even though it does not seem to be possible to compute them analytically in the general case, they can be calculated numerically.

The decomposition into azimuthal modes of $E_{s,tot}^{vac,W}$ in Eq. (8.8) has a similar form as the one that arises in the case of an axisymmetric structure [6]. The clear advantage of this formula is that $I_m\left(\frac{ky_1}{\gamma}\right)$ and $I_n\left(\frac{kr}{\gamma}\right)$ are fastly decaying with m or n when the argument is small (see Eq. (C.10)). Therefore only the first few terms of the series will be sufficient in most applications.

We can also write
$$E_{s,tot}^{out,rr}$$
 in cartesian coordinates: using $r = \sqrt{x^2 + y^2}$ and

$$\cos\left[n\left(\theta - \frac{\pi}{2}\right)\right] = \cos\left(n\phi\right) = \Re\left(e^{jn\phi}\right) = \Re\left[(\cos\phi + j\sin\phi)^n\right] \\ = \frac{1}{r^n} \Re\left[(y - jx)^n\right] = \frac{1}{2r^n}\left[(y - jx)^n + (y + jx)^n\right], \quad (8.10)$$

we obtain

$$E_{s,tot}^{vac,W} = -2\mathcal{C}e^{-jks} \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_{mn} \left[(y-jx)^n + (y+jx)^n \right]}{(x^2+y^2)^{\frac{n}{2}} (1+\delta_{m0}) (1+\delta_{n0})} I_m\left(\frac{ky_1}{\gamma}\right) I_n\left(\frac{k\sqrt{x^2+y^2}}{\gamma}\right).$$
(8.11)

As we did for the direct space charge in the previous section, we can generalize this formula for a source at $x = x_1$ instead of x = 0, by replacing x with $x - x_1$:

$$E_{s,tot}^{vac,W} = -2\mathcal{C}e^{-jks} \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_{mn} \left[\{y - j(x - x_1)\}^n + \{y + j(x - x_1)\}^n \right]}{\{(x - x_1)^2 + y^2\}^{\frac{n}{2}} \left(1 + \delta_{m0}\right) \left(1 + \delta_{n0}\right)} I_m \left(\frac{ky_1}{\gamma}\right) I_n \left\{ \frac{k\sqrt{(x - x_1)^2 + y^2}}{\gamma} \right\}$$

$$(8.12)$$

The sum of Eqs. (8.3) and (8.8) give the total general longitudinal electric field in the vacuum region due to the source in Eqs. (2.4) and (2.5), from which the total force and impedances can be derived.

9 Beam-coupling impedances

9.1 Definitions

We consider a test particle of charge q located at position (x_2, y_2) in the transverse plane, while the source is at $(0, y_1)$ as defined in Section 2. Several definitions of the impedance exist in e.g. Refs. [30, 45, 46] and [47, p. 74]. We will here write the total longitudinal impedance in a general way, inspired by Ref. [46]¹⁰

$$Z_{\parallel} = -\frac{1}{Qq} \int dV E_s J_t^*(x_2, y_2), \qquad (9.1)$$

where the integration is performed over the volume of the structure considered (usually on a finite length L^{11}), and where E_s is given by the sum of Eqs. (8.3) and (8.8). The * stands for the complex conjugate and $\vec{J_t} = J_t \vec{e_s}$ is the density of the current flowing at the test particle position, whose expression is therefore (see Eq. (2.5))

$$J_t(x_2, y_2) = q e^{-jks} \delta(x - x_2) \delta(y - y_2).$$
(9.2)

With the same notations we define the total transverse impedances as [46]

$$Z_x = \frac{j}{Qq} \int \mathrm{d}V \left[\vec{E} + \beta \vec{e_s} \times \vec{G} \right] \cdot \vec{e_x} J_t^*(x_2, y_2) = \frac{j}{Qq} \int \mathrm{d}V \frac{F_x}{q} J_t^*(x_2, y_2), \tag{9.3}$$

$$Z_y = \frac{j}{Qq} \int dV \left[\vec{E} + \beta \vec{e_s} \times \vec{G} \right] \cdot \vec{e_y} J_t^*(x_2, y_2) = \frac{j}{Qq} \int dV \frac{F_y}{q} J_t^*(x_2, y_2).$$
(9.4)

These three definitions can be cast into a form involving only an integral over the length L, by plugging in Eqs. (7.2), (7.3) and (9.2):

$$Z_{\parallel} = -\frac{1}{Q} \int^{L} \mathrm{d}s E_{s}(x_{2}, y_{2}, s; \omega) e^{jks}, \qquad (9.5)$$

$$Z_x = -\frac{1}{kQ} \int^L \mathrm{d}s \frac{\partial E_s}{\partial x}(x_2, y_2, s; \omega) e^{jks}, \qquad (9.6)$$

$$Z_y = -\frac{1}{kQ} \int^L \mathrm{d}s \frac{\partial E_s}{\partial y}(x_2, y_2, s; \omega) e^{jks}.$$
(9.7)

9.2 Direct space-charge impedances

When plugging in Eq. (9.5) the longitudinal electric field due to the direct space charge from Eq. (8.3) together with the definition of C in Eq. (6.6), one gets the following longitudinal space-charge impedance:

$$Z_{\parallel}^{SC,direct} = -\frac{j\omega\mu_{0}L}{2\pi\beta^{2}\gamma^{2}}K_{0}\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sqrt{x_{2}^{2} + (y_{2} - y_{1})^{2}}\right).$$
(9.8)

¹⁰Note that in Ref. [6] there is a mistake in the definition of the impedances (without impact on the subsequent derivations): a_2 should not appear in the factor in front of the integral, in Eqs. (8.13) and (8.24).

¹¹This seems somehow in contradiction with our initial assumption on the infinite length of the chamber considered, but if we were to integrate over an infinite length we would obtain an infinite result, as nothing depend on the position in the integral. In practice one wants to compute the effect of the self-fields for a beam passing in a structure of finite length, which is the length L used here. Our initial assumption then simply state that we neglect all side effects due to the fact that the actual structure has some edges instead of being infinitely prolonged.

Using Eqs. (9.6) and (9.7) with Eq. (C.5) we find for the transverse space-charge impedances:

$$Z_x^{SC,direct} = \frac{j\omega\mu_0 L}{2\pi\beta^2\gamma^3} K_1 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sqrt{x_2^2 + (y_2 - y_1)^2}\right) \frac{x_2}{\sqrt{x_2^2 + (y_2 - y_1)^2}},\tag{9.9}$$

$$Z_{y}^{SC,direct} = \frac{j\omega\mu_{0}L}{2\pi\beta^{2}\gamma^{3}}K_{1}\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sqrt{x_{2}^{2} + (y_{2} - y_{1})^{2}}\right)\frac{y_{2} - y_{1}}{\sqrt{x_{2}^{2} + (y_{2} - y_{1})^{2}}}.$$
(9.10)

9.3 Wall impedances

The term of the impedance coming from the part of the fields due to the flat chamber presence is the so-called wall impedance, which is not exactly the same as the resistive-wall impedance and has been introduced in Ref. [12]. It contains both the impedance that we would have with a flat chamber made of a perfect conductor (this part is usually called the indirect space-charge impedance) and the part of the impedance coming from the resistivity (or more generally the electromagnetic properties) of the layer(s). We will discuss more the indirect space-charge impedance taken alone in Section 10.

The total longitudinal wall impedance is therefore obtained when plugging Eq. (8.8) into the definition (9.5):

$$Z_{\parallel}^{Wall} = 4 \frac{\mathcal{C}L}{Q} \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_{mn} \cos\left(n\phi_2\right)}{\left(1 + \delta_{m0}\right) \left(1 + \delta_{n0}\right)} I_m\left(\frac{ky_1}{\gamma}\right) I_n\left(\frac{kr_2}{\gamma}\right),\tag{9.11}$$

where $r_2 = \sqrt{x_2^2 + y_2^2}$ and ϕ_2 is such that $x_2 = -r_2 \sin \phi_2$ and $y_2 = r_2 \cos \phi_2$ (see Section 8.2). This expression gives the general nonlinear longitudinal wall impedance, but usually one is interested only in the first order terms in the source and test positions, so for small $\frac{ky_1}{\gamma}$ and $\frac{kr_2}{\gamma}$. From the development in Taylor series of I_m and I_n in Eq. (C.9) we see that to go up to the second order in both the source and test positions, we need to go up to m = 2 and n = 2 in the above summation. Approximating then up to second order the Bessel functions thanks to Eq. (C.9) and using $\cos \phi_2 = \frac{y_2}{r_2}$ and $\cos 2\phi_2 =$ $2\cos^2 \phi_2 - 1 = \frac{2y_2^2}{r_2^2} - 1$ we get

$$Z_{\parallel}^{Wall} \approx 4 \frac{\mathcal{C}L}{Q} \left[\frac{\alpha_{00}}{4} \left\{ 1 + \left(\frac{ky_1}{2\gamma}\right)^2 + \left(\frac{kr_2}{2\gamma}\right)^2 \right\} + \frac{\alpha_{01}}{2} \frac{y_2}{r_2} \frac{kr_2}{2\gamma} + \frac{\alpha_{02}}{2} \left(\frac{2y_2^2}{r_2^2} - 1\right) \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{kr_2}{2\gamma}\right)^2 \right. \\ \left. + \frac{\alpha_{10}}{2} \frac{ky_1}{2\gamma} + \alpha_{11} \frac{y_2}{r_2} \frac{ky_1}{2\gamma} \frac{kr_2}{2\gamma} + \frac{\alpha_{20}}{2} \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{ky_1}{2\gamma}\right)^2 \right] \\ \approx \frac{\mathcal{C}L}{Q} \left[\alpha_{00} + \frac{k\alpha_{10}}{\gamma} y_1 + \frac{k\alpha_{01}}{\gamma} y_2 + k^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_{00} + \alpha_{20}}{4\gamma^2}\right) y_1^2 + k^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_{00} - \alpha_{02}}{4\gamma^2}\right) x_2^2 \right. \\ \left. + k^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_{00} + \alpha_{02}}{4\gamma^2}\right) y_2^2 + \frac{k^2 \alpha_{11}}{\gamma^2} y_1 y_2 \right].$$

$$(9.12)$$

In a similar way, the total horizontal wall impedance is obtained when plugging Eq. (8.8) into the definition (9.6):

$$Z_x^{Wall} = 4 \frac{\mathcal{C}L}{kQ} \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_{mn}}{\left(1 + \delta_{m0}\right)\left(1 + \delta_{n0}\right)} I_m\left(\frac{ky_1}{\gamma}\right) \left[I_n\left(\frac{kr_2}{\gamma}\right) \frac{\partial\cos\left(n\phi\right)}{\partial x} \Big|_{x_2,y_2} + \frac{k\cos\left(n\phi_2\right)}{\gamma} I'_n\left(\frac{kr_2}{\gamma}\right) \left. \frac{\partial r}{\partial x} \right|_{x_2,y_2} \right].$$

Now we have, using in particular Eq. (8.10)

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial r}{\partial x}\Big|_{x_2,y_2} &= \frac{x_2}{r_2}, \\ \frac{\partial \cos(n\phi)}{\partial x}\Big|_{x_2,y_2} &= \frac{nj}{2r_2^n} \left[-(y_2 - jx_2)^{n-1} + (y_2 + jx_2)^{n-1} \right] - \frac{nx_2}{2r_2^{n+2}} \left[(y_2 - jx_2)^n + (y_2 + jx_2)^n \right] \\ &= \frac{nj}{2r_2} \left[-(\cos\phi_2 + j\sin\phi_2)^{n-1} + (\cos\phi_2 - j\sin\phi_2)^{n-1} \right] + \frac{n\sin\phi_2}{r_2} \cos(n\phi_2) \\ &= \frac{n}{r_2} \left[\sin\left\{ (n-1)\phi_2 \right\} + \sin\phi_2 \cos(n\phi_2) \right] \\ &= \frac{ny_2}{r_2^2} \sin(n\phi_2). \end{aligned}$$

We then obtain

$$Z_x^{Wall} = 4 \frac{\mathcal{C}L}{kQ} \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_{mn}}{\left(1 + \delta_{m0}\right)\left(1 + \delta_{n0}\right)} I_m\left(\frac{ky_1}{\gamma}\right) \frac{1}{r_2} \left[\frac{ny_2 \sin\left(n\phi_2\right)}{r_2} I_n\left(\frac{kr_2}{\gamma}\right) + \frac{kx_2 \cos\left(n\phi_2\right)}{\gamma} I_n'\left(\frac{kr_2}{\gamma}\right)\right]$$
(9.13)

Upon differentiation of Eq. (C.9) we have for small z

$$I'_n(z) \approx \frac{1}{2(n-1)!} \left(\frac{z}{2}\right)^{n-1} + \frac{n+2}{2(n+1)!} \left(\frac{z}{2}\right)^{n+1},$$

where l! is the factorial of the integer l, with the convention $(-1)! = \infty$. From this and Eq. (C.9) we see that we need to go up to m = 2 and n = 3 to obtain Z_x^{Wall} up to the second order in the source and test coordinates. Approximating the Bessel functions up to that order we obtain

$$\begin{split} Z_x^{Wall} \approx 4 \frac{\mathcal{C}L}{kQ} \left[\frac{\alpha_{00}}{4} \frac{k^2 x_2}{2\gamma^2} + \frac{\alpha_{01}}{2} \left\{ 1 + \frac{k^2 y_1^2}{4\gamma^2} \right\} \left\{ \frac{k\sin\left(\phi_2\right) y_2}{2\gamma r_2} + \frac{k^3\sin\left(\phi_2\right) y_2 r_2}{16\gamma^3} \right. \\ & \left. + \frac{kx_2\cos\phi_2}{2\gamma r_2} + \frac{3k^3 x_2\cos\phi_2 r_2}{16\gamma^2} \right\} + \frac{\alpha_{02}}{2} \left\{ \frac{2y_2\sin(2\phi_2)k^2}{8\gamma^2} + \frac{k^2 x_2\cos\left(2\phi_2\right)}{4\gamma^2} \right\} \\ & \left. + \frac{\alpha_{03}}{2} \left\{ \frac{3y_2\sin\left(3\phi_2\right)k^3 r_2}{48\gamma^3} + \frac{k^3 x_2\cos\left(3\phi_2\right) r_2}{16\gamma^3} \right\} + \frac{\alpha_{10}}{2} \frac{ky_1}{2\gamma} \frac{k^2 x_2}{2\gamma^2} \\ & \left. + \alpha_{11} \frac{ky_1}{2\gamma} \left\{ \frac{y_2\sin\left(\phi_2\right)k}{2\gamma r_2} + \frac{kx_2\cos\left(\phi_2\right)}{2\gamma r_2} \right\} + \alpha_{12} \frac{ky_1}{2\gamma} \left\{ \frac{y_2\sin\left(2\phi_2\right)k^2}{4\gamma^2} + \frac{k^2 x_2\cos\left(2\phi_2\right)}{4\gamma^2} \right\} \\ & \left. + \alpha_{21} \frac{k^2 y_1^2}{8\gamma^2} \left\{ \frac{y_2\sin\left(\phi_2\right)k}{2\gamma r_2} + \frac{kx_2\cos\left(\phi_2\right)}{2\gamma r_2} \right\} \right], \\ & \approx 4 \frac{\mathcal{C}L}{kQ} \left[\frac{\alpha_{00}k^2}{8\gamma^2} x_2 + \frac{\alpha_{01}k^3}{16\gamma^3} x_2 y_2 - \frac{\alpha_{02}k^2}{8\gamma^2} x_2 - \frac{\alpha_{03}k^3}{16\gamma^3} x_2 y_2 + \frac{\alpha_{10}k^3}{8\gamma^3} y_1 x_2 - \frac{\alpha_{12}k^3}{8\gamma^3} y_1 x_2 \right], \end{split}$$

where we have used various trigonometric identities and

$$\cos \phi_2 = \frac{y_2}{r_2}, \quad \sin \phi_2 = -\frac{x_2}{r_2}, \quad \sin(2\phi_2) = -2\frac{x_2y_2}{r_2^2}$$

The total horizontal impedance up to second order can be rewritten

$$Z_x^{Wall} \approx \frac{\mathcal{C}Lk}{2\gamma^2 Q} \left[(\alpha_{00} - \alpha_{02}) x_2 + k \frac{\alpha_{10} - \alpha_{12}}{\gamma} y_1 x_2 + k \frac{\alpha_{01} - \alpha_{03}}{2\gamma} x_2 y_2 \right].$$
(9.14)

Similarly, the total vertical wall impedance is obtained when plugging Eq. (8.8) into the definition (9.7):

$$\begin{split} Z_{y}^{Wall} &= 4 \frac{\mathcal{C}L}{kQ} \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_{mn}}{\left(1 + \delta_{m0}\right) \left(1 + \delta_{n0}\right)} I_{m} \left(\frac{ky_{1}}{\gamma}\right) \left[I_{n} \left(\frac{kr_{2}}{\gamma}\right) \left. \frac{\partial \cos\left(n\phi\right)}{\partial y} \right|_{x_{2},y_{2}} \right. \\ &\left. + \frac{k\cos\left(n\phi_{2}\right)}{\gamma} I_{n}' \left(\frac{kr_{2}}{\gamma}\right) \left. \frac{\partial r}{\partial y} \right|_{x_{2},y_{2}} \right]. \end{split}$$

As above we can write

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial r}{\partial y}\Big|_{x_2,y_2} &= \frac{y_2}{r_2}, \\ \frac{\partial \cos(n\phi)}{\partial y}\Big|_{x_2,y_2} &= \frac{n}{2r_2^n} \left[(y_2 - jx_2)^{n-1} + (y_2 + jx_2)^{n-1} \right] - \frac{ny_2}{2r_2^{n+2}} \left[(y_2 - jx_2)^n + (y_2 + jx_2)^n \right] \\ &= \frac{n}{r_2} \left[\cos\left\{ (n-1)\phi_2 \right\} - \cos\phi_2 \cos\left(n\phi_2\right) \right] \\ &= -\frac{nx_2}{r_2^2} \sin\left(n\phi_2\right). \end{aligned}$$

We then get

$$Z_{y}^{Wall} = 4 \frac{\mathcal{C}L}{kQ} \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha_{mn}}{\left(1 + \delta_{m0}\right)\left(1 + \delta_{n0}\right)} I_{m}\left(\frac{ky_{1}}{\gamma}\right) \frac{1}{r_{2}} \left[-\frac{nx_{2}\sin\left(n\phi_{2}\right)}{r_{2}} I_{n}\left(\frac{kr_{2}}{\gamma}\right) + \frac{ky_{2}\cos\left(n\phi_{2}\right)}{\gamma} I_{n}'\left(\frac{kr_{2}}{\gamma}\right)\right]. \quad (9.15)$$

With the same approximation as above for I_m , I_n and I'_n , and going up to second order we can approximate the vertical impedance by

$$\begin{split} Z_y^{Wall} &\approx 4 \frac{\mathcal{C}L}{kQ} \left[\frac{\alpha_{00}}{4} \frac{k^2 y_2}{2\gamma^2} + \frac{\alpha_{01}}{2} \left\{ 1 + \frac{k^2 y_1^2}{4\gamma^2} \right\} \left\{ -\frac{x_2 \sin \phi_2 k}{2\gamma r_2} - \frac{x_2 \sin \phi_2 k^3 r_2}{16\gamma^3} + \frac{ky_2 \cos \phi_2}{2\gamma r_2} + \frac{3k^3 y_2 \cos \phi_2 r_2}{16\gamma^3} \right\} \\ &\quad + \frac{\alpha_{02}}{2} \left\{ -\frac{2x_2 \sin (2\phi_2) k^2}{8\gamma^2} + \frac{k^2 y_2 \cos (2\phi_2)}{4\gamma^2} \right\} + \frac{\alpha_{03}}{2} \left\{ -\frac{3x_2 \sin (3\phi_2) k^3 r_2}{48\gamma^3} + \frac{k^3 y_2 \cos (3\phi_2) r_2}{16\gamma^3} \right\} \\ &\quad + \frac{\alpha_{10}}{2} \frac{ky_1}{2\gamma} \frac{k^2 y_2}{2\gamma^2} + \alpha_{11} \frac{ky_1}{2\gamma} \left\{ -\frac{x_2 \sin \phi_2 k}{2\gamma r_2} + \frac{ky_2 \cos \phi_2}{2\gamma r_2} \right\} \\ &\quad + \alpha_{12} \frac{ky_1}{2\gamma} \left\{ -\frac{2x_2 \sin (2\phi_2) k^2}{8\gamma^2} + \frac{k^2 y_2 \cos (2\phi_2)}{4\gamma^2} \right\} + \alpha_{21} \frac{k^2 y_1^2}{8\gamma^2} \left\{ -\frac{x_2 \sin \phi_2 k}{2\gamma r_2} + \frac{ky_2 \cos \phi_2}{2\gamma r_2} \right\} \right] \\ &\quad \approx 4 \frac{\mathcal{C}L}{kQ} \left[\frac{\alpha_{00} k^2}{8\gamma^2} y_2 + \frac{\alpha_{01} k}{4\gamma} + \frac{\alpha_{01} k^3}{16\gamma^3} y_1^2 + \frac{\alpha_{01} k^3}{32\gamma^3} x_2^2 + \frac{3\alpha_{01} k^3}{32\gamma^3} y_2^2 + \frac{\alpha_{02} k^2}{8\gamma^2} y_2 + \frac{\alpha_{03} k^3}{32\gamma^3} y_2^2 \\ &\quad - \frac{\alpha_{03} k^3}{32\gamma^3} x_2^2 + \frac{\alpha_{10} k^3}{8\gamma^3} y_1 y_2 + \frac{\alpha_{11} k^2}{4\gamma^2} y_1 + \frac{\alpha_{12} k^3}{8\gamma^3} y_1 y_2 + \frac{\alpha_{21} k^3}{16\gamma^3} y_1^2 \right], \end{split}$$

using again some trigonometric identities and

$$\cos \phi_2 = \frac{y_2}{r_2}, \quad \sin \phi_2 = -\frac{x_2}{r_2}, \quad \cos(2\phi_2) = 2\frac{y_2^2}{r_2^2} - 1 = \frac{y_2^2 - x_2^2}{r_2^2}.$$

Finally our approximation of the total vertical impedance up to second order can be rewritten

$$Z_{y}^{Wall} \approx \frac{\mathcal{C}L}{\gamma Q} \left[\alpha_{01} + \frac{\alpha_{11}k}{\gamma} y_{1} + k \frac{\alpha_{00} + \alpha_{02}}{2\gamma} y_{2} + k^{2} \frac{\alpha_{01} + \alpha_{21}}{4\gamma^{2}} y_{1}^{2} + k^{2} \frac{\alpha_{01} - \alpha_{03}}{8\gamma^{2}} x_{2}^{2} + k^{2} \frac{\alpha_{00} + \alpha_{01}}{8\gamma^{2}} y_{2}^{2} + k^{2} \frac{\alpha_{10} + \alpha_{12}}{2\gamma^{2}} y_{1} y_{2} \right]. \quad (9.16)$$

9.4 Generalization to a source at $x = x_1$ and $y = y_1$

We can generalize the impedances computed above in the case of a source at $x = x_1$ instead of x = 0. From the continuous translation invariance of the problem along the x axis, or in other words the fact that the place of the source along the horizontal axis does not change the problem such that only the difference between the test and the source x coordinates matters, the results can be obtained from those in the above analysis by replacing x_2 with the difference between the two horizontal coordinates $x_2 - x_1$. First of all, for the exact direct space-charge impedances we obtain from Eqs. (9.8), (9.9) and (9.10)

$$Z_{\parallel}^{SC,direct} = -\frac{j\omega\mu_0 L}{2\pi\beta^2\gamma^2} K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sqrt{(x_2 - x_1)^2 + (y_2 - y_1)^2}\right),\tag{9.17}$$

$$Z_x^{SC,direct} = \frac{j\omega\mu_0 L}{2\pi\beta^2\gamma^3} K_1 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sqrt{(x_2 - x_1)^2 + (y_2 - y_1)^2}\right) \frac{x_2 - x_1}{\sqrt{(x_2 - x_1)^2 + (y_2 - y_1)^2}},$$
(9.18)

$$Z_{y}^{SC,direct} = \frac{j\omega\mu_{0}L}{2\pi\beta^{2}\gamma^{3}}K_{1}\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sqrt{(x_{2}-x_{1})^{2}+(y_{2}-y_{1})^{2}}\right)\frac{y_{2}-y_{1}}{\sqrt{(x_{2}-x_{1})^{2}+(y_{2}-y_{1})^{2}}}.$$
(9.19)

Those expressions are exactly the same as those obtained for an axisymmetric geometry [6], which was expected since the direct space-charge is the part of the impedance due to the direct interaction between the source and test particles without the mediation of the surrounding structure, so is independent of it. For the second order approximations of the wall impedances we obtain, from Eqs. (9.12), (9.14) and (9.16) and plugging the value of the constant C from Eq. (6.6):

$$Z_{\parallel}^{Wall} \approx \frac{jkZ_0L}{2\pi\beta\gamma^2} \left[\alpha_{00} + \frac{k\alpha_{10}}{\gamma} y_1 + \frac{k\alpha_{01}}{\gamma} y_2 + k^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_{00} - \alpha_{02}}{4\gamma^2} \right) x_1^2 + k^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_{00} + \alpha_{20}}{4\gamma^2} \right) y_1^2 + k^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_{00} - \alpha_{02}}{4\gamma^2} \right) x_2^2 + k^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_{00} + \alpha_{02}}{4\gamma^2} \right) y_2^2 - k^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_{00} - \alpha_{02}}{2\gamma^2} \right) x_1 x_2 + \frac{k^2 \alpha_{11}}{\gamma^2} y_1 y_2 \right], \quad (9.20)$$

$$Z_x^{Wall} \approx \frac{jk^2 Z_0 L}{4\pi\beta\gamma^4} \left[-\left(\alpha_{00} - \alpha_{02}\right) x_1 + \left(\alpha_{00} - \alpha_{02}\right) x_2 - k\frac{\alpha_{10} - \alpha_{12}}{\gamma} x_1 y_1 - k\frac{\alpha_{01} - \alpha_{03}}{2\gamma} x_1 y_2 + k\frac{\alpha_{10} - \alpha_{12}}{\gamma} y_1 x_2 + k\frac{\alpha_{01} - \alpha_{03}}{2\gamma} x_2 y_2 \right],$$

$$(9.21)$$

$$Z_{y}^{Wall} \approx \frac{jkZ_{0}L}{2\pi\beta\gamma^{3}} \left[\alpha_{01} + \frac{\alpha_{11}k}{\gamma} y_{1} + k\frac{\alpha_{00} + \alpha_{02}}{2\gamma} y_{2} + k^{2} \frac{\alpha_{01} - \alpha_{03}}{8\gamma^{2}} x_{1}^{2} + k^{2} \frac{\alpha_{01} + \alpha_{21}}{4\gamma^{2}} y_{1}^{2} + k^{2} \frac{\alpha_{01} - \alpha_{03}}{8\gamma^{2}} x_{2}^{2} + k^{2} \frac{\alpha_{01} - \alpha_{03}}{4\gamma^{2}} y_{1}^{2} + k^{2} \frac{\alpha_{01} - \alpha_{03}}{4\gamma^{2}} x_{1}^{2} + k^{2} \frac{\alpha_{10} + \alpha_{12}}{2\gamma^{2}} y_{1} y_{2} \right].$$

$$(9.22)$$

The longitudinal wall impedance is often reduced to its zeroth order (constant) term, which is given by

$$Z_{\parallel}^{Wall,0} = \frac{jkZ_0L}{2\pi\beta\gamma^2}\alpha_{00}.$$
(9.23)

 Z_x^{Wall} has no constant term due to the left-right symmetry (see Fig. 1) but we can notice that Z_y^{Wall} has a non-zero constant term due to the absence of top-bottom symmetry: the layers at the bottom can be different from those at the top so the electromagnetic vertical force has no reason to be zero for y = 0. This term is given by

$$Z_y^{Wall,0} = \frac{jkZ_0L}{2\pi\beta\gamma^3}\alpha_{01}.$$
(9.24)

Then, the terms usually considered for the transverse impedances are the linear ones, i.e. proportional to x_1 , y_1 , x_2 or y_2 , the coefficient of proportionality being called dipolar impedance (when considering a term proportional to the source particle coordinates) or quadrupolar impedance (when considering a

term proportional to the test particle coordinates). We write therefore:

$$Z_x^{Wall,dip} = -\frac{jk^2 Z_0 L}{4\pi\beta\gamma^4} \left(\alpha_{00} - \alpha_{02}\right), \qquad (9.25)$$

$$Z_y^{Wall,dip} = \frac{jk^2 Z_0 L}{2\pi\beta\gamma^4} \alpha_{11},\tag{9.26}$$

$$Z_x^{Wall,quad} = \frac{jk^2 Z_0 L}{4\pi\beta\gamma^4} \left(\alpha_{00} - \alpha_{02}\right), \qquad (9.27)$$

$$Z_y^{Wall,quad} = \frac{jk^2 Z_0 L}{4\pi\beta\gamma^4} \left(\alpha_{00} + \alpha_{02}\right).$$
(9.28)

We notice here that $Z_x^{Wall,dip} = -Z_x^{Wall,quad}$ which is a direct consequence of the continuous translation invariance along the x axis of the configuration. On the other hand, contrary to usual ultrarelativistic results (see e.g. Ref. [48]), we see that $Z_x^{Wall,quad} \neq -Z_y^{Wall,quad}$, which is due to the term proportional to α_{00} (it is actually similar to the quadrupolar term found for the impedance in an axisymmetric structure [6]).

Finally, one can check without much difficulty that Eq. (9.20) and the linear terms of Z_x^{Wall} and Z_y^{Wall} in Eq. (9.21) and (9.22) are conform with Panofsky-Wenzel theorem as stated in Ref. [47, p. 90], namely

$$\begin{split} kZ_x^{Wall} &= \frac{\partial Z_{\parallel}^{Wall}}{\partial x_2}, \\ kZ_y^{Wall} &= \frac{\partial Z_{\parallel}^{Wall}}{\partial y_2}. \end{split}$$

Note that for the direct space-charge part the conformity with Panofsky-Wenzel theorem was already checked in Ref. [6].

10 Some particular cases

We apply here our formalism to several particular configurations.

10.1 General simplifications in case of top-bottom symmetry

Typically flat chamber have a symmetry between the top and bottom parts, which simplifies the analysis. The top-bottom symmetry means in particular that if we replace y_1 by $-y_1$, we should obtain the same results provided we switch the roles of $C_{e_+}^{(1)}$ and $C_{e_-}^{(-1)}$. Therefore in Eqs. (6.61) we should have

$$\chi_2 = \eta_1$$
 and $\eta_2 = \chi_1$. (10.1)

So we only need to compute the functions η_1 and χ_1 . Note that the matrices \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{M}' defined in Eqs. (6.45) and (6.53) are not identical, since $M^{p+1,p} \neq M^{-p-1,-p}$ because $b^{(p)}$ changes sign in Eqs. (6.38) to (6.42) with respect to Eqs. (6.46) to (6.50). So one still needs to compute both \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{M}' to compute χ_1 and η_1 .

We can write now a simpler formula for the α_{mn} from Eq. (8.9):

$$\alpha_{mn} = \left[(-1)^{m+n} + 1 \right] \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}u \cosh\left(mu\right) \cosh\left(nu\right) \left[\chi_1\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sinh u\right) + (-1)^m \eta_1\left(\frac{k}{\gamma}\sinh u\right) \right]. \tag{10.2}$$

This means in particular that $\alpha_{mn} = 0$ whenever m + n is odd, so in particular $\alpha_{01} = \alpha_{03} = \alpha_{10} = \alpha_{12} = \alpha_{21} = 0$. For the wall linear terms in the beam-coupling impedances, this has for consequence to cancel out the constant term in Z_y^{Wall} , as expected:

$$Z_{y}^{Wall,0} = 0. (10.3)$$

On the other hand the impedances used most often, namely $Z_{\parallel}^{Wall,0}$ from Eq. (9.23) and the dipolar and quadrupolar transverse impedances from Eqs. (9.25) to (9.28) remain with the same expressions.

More generally the second order approximation of the longitudinal and transverse total wall impedance become:

$$Z_{\parallel}^{Wall} \approx \frac{jkZ_0L}{2\pi\beta\gamma^2} \left[\alpha_{00} + k^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_{00} - \alpha_{02}}{4\gamma^2} \right) x_1^2 + k^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_{00} + \alpha_{20}}{4\gamma^2} \right) y_1^2 + k^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_{00} - \alpha_{02}}{4\gamma^2} \right) x_2^2 + k^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_{00} + \alpha_{02}}{4\gamma^2} \right) y_2^2 - k^2 \left(\frac{\alpha_{00} - \alpha_{02}}{2\gamma^2} \right) x_1 x_2 + \frac{k^2 \alpha_{11}}{\gamma^2} y_1 y_2 \right],$$
(10.4)

$$Z_x^{Wall} \approx \frac{jk^2 Z_0 L}{4\pi\beta\gamma^4} \left[-\left(\alpha_{00} - \alpha_{02}\right) x_1 + \left(\alpha_{00} - \alpha_{02}\right) x_2 \right],\tag{10.5}$$

$$Z_y^{Wall} \approx \frac{jk^2 Z_0 L}{4\pi\beta\gamma^4} \left[2\alpha_{11}y_1 + (\alpha_{00} + \alpha_{02}) y_2 \right], \tag{10.6}$$

where we see that the nonlinear terms in the transverse impedances are at least of third order.

10.2 Case of two perfectly conducting plates

Now we consider that at $y = \pm b$ we have plates of infinite conductivity. In this case (where the results above on top-bottom symmetry apply), considering first a given k_x , we must have $\vec{E} = \vec{0}$ all along the plates so in particular, from Eqs. (8.1):

$$C_{e+}^{(1)}e^{k_y^{(1)}b} + C_{e-}^{(-1)}e^{-k_y^{(1)}b} + \frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_y^{(1)}}e^{k_y^{(1)}(y_1-b)} = 0,$$

$$C_{e+}^{(1)}e^{-k_y^{(1)}b} + C_{e-}^{(-1)}e^{k_y^{(1)}b} + \frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_y^{(1)}}e^{k_y^{(1)}(-b-y_1)} = 0,$$

or, in matrix form:

$$\begin{bmatrix} e^{k_y^{(1)}b} & e^{-k_y^{(1)}b} \\ e^{-k_y^{(1)}b} & e^{k_y^{(1)}b} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(1)} \\ C_{e-}^{(-1)} \end{bmatrix} = -\frac{\mathcal{C}}{k_y^{(1)}} \begin{bmatrix} e^{k_y^{(1)}(y_1-b)} \\ e^{-k_y^{(1)}(y_1+b)} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Using the inversion formula of a 2×2 matrix (see Appendix E) we obtain for $C_{e+}^{(1)}$:

$$C_{e+}^{(1)} = -\frac{\mathcal{C}}{2\sinh\left(2k_y^{(1)}b\right)k_y^{(1)}} \left[e^{k_y^{(1)}y_1} - e^{-k_y^{(1)}(y_1+2b)}\right],$$

which gives for χ_1 and η_1 , from Eq. (6.61) and Eq. (6.4)

$$\chi_1 = \frac{1}{2\sinh\left(2b\sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}\right)} \quad \text{and} \quad \eta_1 = \frac{-e^{-2b\sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}}}{2\sinh\left(2b\sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}\right)}, \quad (10.7)$$

which can be plugged into Eq. (10.2):

$$\alpha_{mn}^{PC} = \left[(-1)^{m+n} + 1 \right] \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}u \frac{\cosh\left(mu\right)\cosh\left(nu\right)}{2\sinh\left(2\frac{kb}{\gamma}\cosh u\right)} \left[1 - (-1)^m e^{-2\frac{kb}{\gamma}\cosh u} \right],\tag{10.8}$$

where the superscript PC stands for "perfect conductor". Then, the linear part of the wall impedances for such perfectly conducting plates (also called indirect space-charge) will be given by Eq. (9.23) and Eqs. (9.25) to (9.28).

We can check that the longitudinal electric field (and therefore the electromagnetic force and impedances)

given by our approach would have been identical if we had used instead the method of images [49, 50] to impose the boundary conditions. This method consists in placing several sources (i.e. point-like charge and current density as in Eqs. (2.4) and (2.5)) such as to enforce automatically the boundary condition $E_s = 0$ on the plates at $y = \pm b$, which is the only condition needed to get the longitudinal component of the electric field. The basic idea is then that if one such source is at x = 0 and $y = y_1$ and another one with an opposite charge -Q is at x = 0 and $y = 2b - y_1$ (i.e. symmetrically placed with respect to the plate at y = b), all of this being in vacuum, then we get automatically $E_s = 0$ on the plate at y = b. This can be seen using Eq. (8.3) which represents E_s created by the first of those source in vacuum: from the superposition principle the longitudinal component of the electric field created by those two sources would be

$$E_{s} = Ce^{-jks} \left[K_{0} \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^{2} + (y - y_{1})^{2}} \right) - K_{0} \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^{2} + (y + y_{1} - 2b)^{2}} \right) \right],$$

which is obviously zero for $y = b^{12}$. Then, to get $E_s = 0$ at y = -b one needs as well to symmetrize in the same way the two sources previously mentioned, with respect to the plane y = -b, obtaining two new sources, one of charge -Q at $y = -2b - y_1$ and one of charge Q at $y = -4b + y_1$. Those again should have their symmetric counterparts with respect to the first plate, thus we need two more images on the upper part, and we repeat the process to get an infinite number of sources farther and farther away from the plates, such that in the end the overall sum converges to the solution with the desired boundary condition $E_s = 0$ for $y = \pm b$. The images arrangement is illustrated in Fig. 2: we get in the end sources of charge Q at positions $4lb + y_1$ and sources of charge -Q at positions $2(2l + 1)b - y_1$ (lbeing a positive of negative integer).

Finally the total longitudinal component of the electric field will be given by the sum of E_s from all the sources, each being obtained thanks to Eq. (8.3):

$$E_{s,tot}^{PC,images} = Ce^{-jks} \left[\sum_{l=-\infty}^{\infty} K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - 4lb - y_1)^2} \right) - \sum_{l=-\infty}^{\infty} K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - 2b(2l + 1) + y_1)^2} \right) \right] \\ = Ce^{-jks} \left[\sum_{l=-\infty}^{\infty} (-1)^{2l} K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - 2b(2l) - (-1)^{2l} y_1)^2} \right) + \sum_{l=-\infty}^{\infty} (-1)^{2l+1} K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - 2b(2l + 1) - (-1)^{2l+1} y_1)^2} \right) \right] \\ = Ce^{-jks} \sum_{l=-\infty}^{\infty} (-1)^l K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - 2lb - (-1)^l y_1)^2} \right).$$
(10.9)

¹²More general arguments exist [49, 50] to prove that E_s (and even the tangential component) is zero at the plane equidistant to two such sources. For instance it can be seen in time domain (and therefore in frequency domain from the linearity of the Fourier transform) by changing the reference frame to the rest frame of the two point-like sources (which go at the same velocity v). Upon application of Coulomb's law in the rest frame for each source, one can clearly see that the tangential component on the plate is zero after summation of the two Coulomb's fields. Then, using the Lorentz transform of the fields one would directly obtain the result.



Figure 2: Several of the electric images used to impose the boundary condition $E_s = 0$ on the plates at $y = \pm b$. Images with a plus sign denotes a charge of Q while those with a minus sign have a charge of -Q.

Now, we would like to compare this expression with the one obtained from the approach developped throughout the paper. To do so we first rewrite the α_{mn} constants from Eq. (10.8) as

$$\begin{split} \alpha_{mn}^{PC} &= \left[(-1)^{m+n} + 1 \right] \int_{0}^{\infty} du \frac{\cosh\left(mu\right)\cosh\left(nu\right)}{e^{2\frac{kb}{\gamma}}\cosh u} \left(1 - e^{-4\frac{kb}{\gamma}\cosh u} \right)} \left[1 - (-1)^{m}e^{-2\frac{kb}{\gamma}\cosh u} \right] \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{m+n} + 1}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} du \left\{ \left[\cosh\left\{(m+n)u\right\} + \cosh\left\{(m-n)u\right\} \right] e^{-2\frac{kb}{\gamma}}\cosh u}{\left[1 - (-1)^{m}e^{-2\frac{kb}{\gamma}}\cosh u} \right] \right\} & \text{using a geometric series decomposition of } \frac{1}{1 - e^{-4\frac{kb}{\gamma}}\cosh u} \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{m+n} + 1}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} du \left\{ \left[\cosh\left\{(m+n)u\right\} + \cosh\left\{(m-n)u\right\} \right] \left[\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{(m+1)(2l+2)}e^{-2(2l+1)\frac{kb}{\gamma}\cosh u} \\ &+ \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{(m+1)(2l+3)}e^{-2(2l+2)\frac{kb}{\gamma}\cosh u} \right] \right\} \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{m+n} + 1}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} du \left[\cosh\left\{(m+n)u\right\} + \cosh\left\{(m-n)u\right\} \right] \left[\sum_{l=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{(m+1)(l+1)}e^{-2l\frac{kb}{\gamma}\cosh u} \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{m+n} + 1}{2} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{(m+1)(l+1)} \int_{0}^{\infty} du \left[\cosh\left\{(m+n)u\right\} + \cosh\left\{(m-n)u\right\} \right] e^{-2l\frac{kb}{\gamma}\cosh u} \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{m+n} + 1}{2} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{(m+1)(l+1)} \left[K_{m+n} \left(2l\frac{kb}{\gamma} \right) + K_{m-n} \left(2l\frac{kb}{\gamma} \right) \right], \end{split}$$

where we used Eq. (C.18) for the last step. Reinserting this into Eq. (8.8), adding also the direct space-charge part from Eq. (8.3), we get, with $\phi = \theta - \frac{\pi}{2}$:

$$\begin{split} E_{s,tot}^{PC} &= \mathcal{C}e^{-jks} \left\{ K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - y_1)^2} \right) - 2 \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m,n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{l+1} \frac{((-1)^{m(l+1)} + (-1)^{ml+n}) \cos(n\phi)}{(1 + \delta_{m0})(1 + \delta_{n0})} \right. \\ &= \mathcal{C}e^{-jks} \left\{ K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - y_1)^2} \right) + 2 \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} (-1)^l \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\cos(n\phi)}{(1 + \delta_{n0})} I_n \left(\frac{kr}{\gamma} \right) \right] \right\} \\ &= \mathcal{C}e^{-jks} \left\{ K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - y_1)^2} \right) + 2 \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} (-1)^l \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\cos(n\phi)}{(1 + \delta_{n0})} I_n \left(\frac{kr}{\gamma} \right) \right] \right\} \\ &= \mathcal{C}e^{-jks} \left\{ K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - y_1)^2} \right) + 2 \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} (-1)^l \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\cos(n\phi)}{(1 + \delta_{n0})} I_n \left(\frac{kr}{\gamma} \right) \right] \right\} \\ &= \mathcal{C}e^{-jks} \left\{ K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - y_1)^2} \right) + 2 \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} (-1)^l \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\cos(n\phi)}{(1 + \delta_{n0})} I_n \left(\frac{kr}{\gamma} \right) \right\} \\ &= \mathcal{C}e^{-jks} \left\{ K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - y_1)^2} \right) + 2 \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} (-1)^l \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\cos(n\phi)}{(1 + \delta_{n0})} I_n \left(\frac{kr}{\gamma} \right) \right\} \\ &= \mathcal{C}e^{-jks} \left\{ K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - y_1)^2} \right) + 2 \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} (-1)^l \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\cos(n\phi)}{(1 + \delta_{n0})} I_n \left(\frac{kr}{\gamma} \right) \left[K_n \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \left(2lb + (-1)^l y_1 \right) \right) \right] \right\} \\ &= \mathcal{C}e^{-jks} \left\{ K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - y_1)^2} \right) + 2 \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} (-1)^l \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\cos(n\phi)}{(1 + \delta_{n0})} I_n \left(\frac{kr}{\gamma} \right) \left[K_n \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \left(2lb + (-1)^l y_l \right) \right) \right] \right\} \\ &+ (-1)^n K_n \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \left(2lb + (-1)^{l+1} y_l \right) \right) \right] \right\} \\ &= \mathcal{C}e^{-jks} \left\{ K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - y_1)^2} \right) + 2 \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} (-1)^l \left[K_0 \left(\frac{kr}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - y_1)^2} \right) \right] \right\} \\ &+ K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (2lb + (-1)^{l+1} y_l)^2} \right) \right\} \\ &+ K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (2lb + (-1)^{l+1} y_l)^2} \right) \right\} \\ &+ K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - y_1)^2} \right) + \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} (-1)^l \left[K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - 2lb - (-1)^l y_l)^2} \right) \right] \\ &+ K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - 2lb - (-1)^l y_l)^2} \right) \right\} \\ &+ K_0 \left(\frac{k}{\gamma} \sqrt{x^2 + (y - 2lb - (-1)^l y_l)^2} \right) \right\}$$

$$(10.10)$$

This is exactly the result in Eq. (10.9) obtained with the method of images.

10.3 A note on the case of a single plate

The case of a single plate is included into our formalism and can be treated with the same equations as those for a flat chamber with two plates. If for instance there is a plate only on the top part, we simply notice that M = 1 (number of layers in the lower part of the chamber) and that the matrix \mathcal{M}' in Eq. (6.53) is the identity matrix, as can be readily seen in Eq. (6.52).

11 Conclusion

This paper used a general approach to give an as complete and detailed as possible derivation of the electromagnetic fields and impedances created by an offset point charge travelling at any speed in a

multilayer flat chamber, infinite along the charge direction of movement and along the horizontal direction. The basic assumptions of the derivation are the geometry of the chamber and the linearity of the wall materials together with the validity of local Ohm's law (thus neglecting magnetoresitance and the anomalous skin effect).

New results were obtained within our very general assumptions: the beam-coupling impedances up to any order can be computed thanks to closed-form formulae, involving a general matrix formalism for the field matching between adjacent layers and final integrals that can be computed numerically. In particular, one can compute generalized form factors between the impedances in an axisymmetric structure and the impedances computed here for a flat chamber, and compare them with the limiting case of the Yokoya factors [8], or with other aproaches. Such comparisons are shown in Refs. [51, 52].

In this study some elementary verifications were done, in particular the direct space-charge impedances are the same as the ones for an axisymmetric structure, the longitudinal electric field for two perfectly conducting plates is the same as the one obtained through the method of images, and Panofsky-Wenzel theorem was checked on our resulting impedances.

In short, to apply this formalism for the geometry shown in Fig. 1 the way to proceed is to first use the formulae in Section 6.2, namely Eqs. (6.38) to (6.42), Eq. (6.45), Eqs. (6.46) to (6.50) and Eq. (6.53), with the definitions from Eqs. (3.5), (3.6), (4.11) and (6.21). This gives two 4×4 matrices \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{M}' , each depending on the horizontal wave number k_x , from which we can construct the matrix \mathcal{P} on the left hand side of Eq. (6.57), that we finally use in Eqs. (6.60) to compute the $\eta_{1,2}$ and $\chi_{1,2}$ functions. The latter are then plugged into Eq. (8.9) to get the α_{mn} constants, before computing the beam-coupling impedances from Eqs. (9.20) to (9.22), or (9.23) to (9.28) for the first linear terms. In the case of a structure with top-bottom symmetry one can use the results of Section 10.1 to reduce the number of computations to be performed.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank Bruno Zotter for pointing out many useful references, and Benoît Salvant for his help in the comparison of this formalism with other approaches.

A Appendix A: Vector operations in cartesian coordinates

The following formulas can be found in many textbooks of mechanics or electrodynamics, and in particular in Refs. [42, p. 452] and [11, cover page] as well as in Ref. [53].

A.1 Gradient

For any scalar field f, the gradient in cartesian coordinates (x, y, s) (the basis unit vectors being $\vec{e_x}$, $\vec{e_y}$ and $\vec{e_s}$) is given by

$$\vec{\text{grad}}f = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x}\vec{e_x} + \frac{\partial f}{\partial y}\vec{e_y} + \frac{\partial f}{\partial s}\vec{e_s}.$$
(A.1)

A.2 Divergence

For any vector field \vec{A} , the divergence in cartesian coordinates (x, y, s) is given by

$$\operatorname{div}\vec{A} = \frac{\partial A_x}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial A_y}{\partial y} + \frac{\partial A_s}{\partial s}.$$
(A.2)

A.3 Curl

For any vector field \vec{A} , the curl in cartesian coordinates (x, y, s) is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \vec{\operatorname{curl}}\vec{A} \end{pmatrix}_{x} = \frac{\partial A_{s}}{\partial y} - \frac{\partial A_{y}}{\partial s}, \\ \begin{pmatrix} \vec{\operatorname{curl}}\vec{A} \end{pmatrix}_{y} = \frac{\partial A_{x}}{\partial s} - \frac{\partial A_{s}}{\partial x}, \\ \begin{pmatrix} \vec{\operatorname{curl}}\vec{A} \end{pmatrix}_{s} = \frac{\partial A_{y}}{\partial x} - \frac{\partial A_{x}}{\partial y}.$$
 (A.3)

A.4 Scalar laplacian

For any scalar field f, the laplacian in cartesian coordinates (x, y, s) is given by

$$\nabla^2 f = \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial y^2} + \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial s^2}.$$
 (A.4)

A.5 Vector laplacian

For any vector field \vec{A} , the vector laplacian in cartesian coordinates (x, y, s) is given by

$$\left(\nabla^2 \vec{A} \right)_x = \nabla^2 A_x,$$

$$\left(\nabla^2 \vec{A} \right)_y = \nabla^2 A_y,$$

$$\left(\nabla^2 \vec{A} \right)_s = \nabla^2 A_s.$$
(A.5)

B Appendix B: Various relations between vector operations

From for instance Ref. [11, cover page], we know that

$$\vec{\operatorname{curl}}\left(\vec{\operatorname{curl}}\right) = \vec{\operatorname{grad}}\left(\operatorname{div}\right) - \nabla^2,$$
 (B.1)

$$\operatorname{div}\left(\vec{\operatorname{curl}}\right) = 0. \tag{B.2}$$

C Appendix C: Various properties of the modified Bessel functions

Unless stated otherwise, in all the following ν and z are complex numbers while m is an integer.

C.1 Definitions

Modified Bessel functions $I_{\nu}(z)$ (first kind) and $K_{\nu}(z)$ (second kind) are independent solutions of the differential equation [54, p. 374]

$$z^{2}\frac{d^{2}y}{dz^{2}} + z\frac{dy}{dz} - (z^{2} + \nu^{2})y = 0.$$
 (C.1)

The Bessel function of the first kind $J_{\nu}(z)$ is a solution of [54, p. 358]

$$z^{2}\frac{d^{2}y}{dz^{2}} + z\frac{dy}{dz} + (z^{2} - \nu^{2})y = 0.$$
 (C.2)

C.2 General properties

From Ref. [54, p. 375-376], we have the following relations between the modified Bessel functions (z^* stands for the complex conjugate of z)

$$I_{-m}(z) = I_m(z), \tag{C.3}$$

$$K_{-m}(z) = K_m(z), \tag{C.4}$$

$$K'_0(z) = -K_1(z),$$
 (C.5)

$$J_m(jz) = j^m I_m(z) \text{ for } -\pi < \arg(z) \le \frac{\pi}{2}, \tag{C.6}$$

$$I_{\nu}\left(ze^{jm\pi}\right) = e^{j\nu m\pi}I_{\nu}\left(z\right). \tag{C.7}$$

From Ref. [54, p. 361] we have the additional relation

$$J_{\nu}\left(ze^{jm\pi}\right) = e^{j\nu m\pi}J_{\nu}\left(z\right). \tag{C.8}$$

C.3 Expansion for small arguments

Reference [54, p. 375] gives expansions for small arguments. Assuming m integer with $m \ge 0$, we have

$$I_m(z) = \left(\frac{z}{2}\right)^m \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\left(\frac{z}{2}\right)^{2k}}{k!(m+k)!},$$
 (C.9)

$$I_m(z) \quad \sim_{|z| \to 0} \frac{\left(\frac{1}{2}z\right)^m}{m!},\tag{C.10}$$

where m! is the factorial of the integer m.

C.4 Summation formulae

From Ref. [54, p. 376] we have

$$e^{\frac{z}{2}\left(t+\frac{1}{t}\right)} = \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} t^m I_m(z) \quad \text{with } t \text{ non zero.}$$
(C.11)

We can use it to derive two other summation formulae: using Eq. (C.3)

$$e^{z\cosh u} = e^{\frac{z}{2}\left(e^{u} + \frac{1}{e^{u}}\right)} = \sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} e^{mu} I_m(z) = I_0(z) + 2\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \cosh(mu) I_m(z),$$
(C.12)

and, thanks to (C.7)

$$e^{-z\cosh u} = I_0(z) + 2\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} (-1)^m \cosh(mu) I_m(z).$$
(C.13)

Another useful relation is obtained from Ref. [55, p. 102]: for any complex numbers ϕ , ν , z_1 and z_2 such that $|z_1e^{\pm j\phi}| < |z_2|$ we have

$$\sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} I_m(z_1) K_{\nu+m}(z_2) e^{jm\phi} = K_{\nu} \left(\sqrt{z_1^2 + z_2^2 - 2z_1 z_2 \cos \phi} \right) \left(\frac{z_2 - z_1 e^{-j\phi}}{\sqrt{z_1^2 + z_2^2 - 2z_1 z_2 \cos \phi}} \right)^{\nu}.$$
 (C.14)

This in particular gives for $\nu = 0$, $0 < z_1 < z_2$ and ϕ real numbers, taking only the real part of the formula, and recalling Eqs. (C.3) and (C.4)

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{1+\delta_{m0}} I_m(z_1) K_m(z_2) \cos(m\phi) = \frac{1}{2} K_0 \left(\sqrt{z_1^2 + z_2^2 - 2z_1 z_2 \cos\phi} \right), \tag{C.15}$$

where $\delta_{m0} = 1$ if m = 0, 0 otherwise. We can also write Eq. (C.14) in the case when $\nu = n, |z_1| < z_2$ and $\phi = p\pi$ where n and p are integers, obtaining

$$\sum_{m=-\infty}^{\infty} I_m(z_1) K_{m+n}(z_2) (-1)^{mp} = K_n \left(z_2 + (-1)^{p+1} z_1 \right).$$
(C.16)

C.5 Integral formulae

The following integral formula can be found in Ref. [56, p. 17]

$$\int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}k_x \,\cos\left(k_x x\right) \frac{e^{-b\sqrt{k_x^2 + a^2}}}{\sqrt{k_x^2 + a^2}} = K_0\left(a\sqrt{b^2 + x^2}\right) \quad \text{with } \Re(a) > 0 \text{ and } \Re(b) > 0. \tag{C.17}$$

Another useful integral representation is [54, p. 376]

$$K_{\nu}(z) = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}t \, e^{-z \cosh t} \cosh(\nu t) \qquad \text{with } |\arg(z)| < \frac{\pi}{2} \;. \tag{C.18}$$

C.6 A generalization of Schläfli's integrals

References [55, p. 82] and [57, p. 903] give an analytical expression for the following sum of integrals given for x, y complex numbers and ν real¹³:

$$\int_0^{\pi} e^{y\cos t}\cos\left(x\sin t - \nu t\right) \mathrm{d}t - \sin\nu\pi \int_0^{\infty} e^{-\nu t - y\cosh t - x\sinh t} \mathrm{d}t \qquad \text{with} \ \Re(x+y) > 0.$$
(C.19)

The expressions given in both references are different: according to Ref. [55, p. 82] the result should be

$$\pi \left(\frac{x+y}{x-y}\right)^{\frac{\nu}{2}} J_{\nu} \left[\left(x^2 - y^2\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right].$$

In Ref. [57, p. 903] we find on the contrary that this sum of integrals should be

$$\pi (x+y)^{\nu} \frac{J_{\nu} \left[\left(x^2 + y^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right]}{(x^2 - y^2)^{\frac{\nu}{2}}}.$$

When comparing those formulae with numerical computations of the integrals (where the one on an infinite range converges very fast so is not computationally intensive), it turns out that both the above

¹³In Ref. [57] there is already an error in the upper bound of the first integral, which is taken as ∞ instead of π .

formulae seem incorrect. In particular, the first analytical expression above is not even continuous with x when going from x < y to x > y for certain values of ν . Therefore we rederive here the formula, following step by step the derivation given in Ref. [58].

The starting point is the following generalization of Bessel's integral due to Schläfli, which can be found in equivalent forms in Refs. [54, p. 360], [57, p. 903], [58] and [59, p. 176]:

For
$$\Re(a) > 0$$
, $J_{\nu}(a) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\pi} \cos(\nu t - a\sin t) dt - \frac{\sin\nu\pi}{\pi} \int_0^{\infty} e^{-\nu t - a\sinh t} dt.$ (C.20)

Then, for any y complex and t real, we have the general formula

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{y^n}{n!} e^{jnt} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\left(y e^{jt}\right)^n}{n!} = e^{y e^{jt}} = e^{y \cos t} \left[\cos\left(y \sin t\right) + j \sin\left(y \sin t\right)\right].$$

Using this relation for both t and -t and adding (respectively subtracting) the results, we get

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{y^n}{n!} \cos(nt) = e^{y \cos t} \cos(y \sin t),$$
$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{y^n}{n!} \sin(nt) = e^{y \cos t} \sin(y \sin t).$$

From these and the relation

$$\cos\left[\left(\nu+n\right)t - a\sin t\right] = \cos\left(\nu t - a\sin t\right)\cos\left(nt\right) - \sin\left(\nu t - a\sin t\right)\sin\left(nt\right),$$

we obtain

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{y^n}{n!} \cos\left[(\nu + n)t - a\sin t\right] = e^{y\cos t} \left[\cos\left(y\sin t\right)\cos\left(\nu t - a\sin t\right) - \sin\left(y\sin t\right)\sin\left(\nu t - a\sin t\right)\right] \\ = e^{y\cos t}\cos\left[\nu t - (a - y)\sin t\right].$$
(C.21)

We also have

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{y^n}{n!} \sin \left[(\nu + n) \, \pi \right] e^{-nt} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\left(-ye^{-t} \right)^n}{n!} \sin \left(\nu \pi \right)$$
$$= e^{-ye^{-t}} \sin \left(\nu \pi \right),$$

such that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{y^n}{n!} \sin\left[(\nu + n)\pi\right] e^{-nt - \nu t - a\sinh t} = \sin\left(\nu\pi\right) e^{-y(\cosh t - \sinh t) - \nu t - a\sinh t}$$
$$= \sin\left(\nu\pi\right) e^{-\nu t - y\cosh t - (a - y)\sinh t}.$$
(C.22)

Thanks to Eqs. (C.20), (C.21) and (C.22) we have upon integration

$$\int_{0}^{\pi} e^{y \cos t} \cos \left[\nu t - (a - y) \sin t\right] dt - \sin \left(\nu \pi\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\nu t - y \cosh t - (a - y) \sinh t} dt$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{y^{n}}{n!} \int_{0}^{\pi} \cos \left[(\nu + n)t - a \sin t\right] dt - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{y^{n}}{n!} \sin \left[(\nu + n)\pi\right] \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-nt - \nu t - a \sinh t} dt$$
$$= \pi \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{y^{n}}{n!} J_{\nu+n}(a) \qquad \text{for } \Re(a) > 0.$$
(C.23)

The latter sum can be computed thanks to Ref. [59, p. 141], giving

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{y^n}{n!} J_{\nu+n}(a) = \left(1 - \frac{2y}{a}\right)^{-\frac{\nu}{2}} J_{\nu}\left(a\sqrt{1 - \frac{2y}{a}}\right).$$
(C.24)

Note that Eq. (C.24) is not exactly the same as the correspondant formula in Ref. [58]: in the latter the argument of the Bessel function has been replaced by $\sqrt{a^2 - 2ay}$ which turns out not to be same when $\arg a + \arg \left(1 - \frac{2y}{a}\right) > \pi$ or $\arg a + \arg \left(1 - \frac{2y}{a}\right) \le -\pi$ as we know from e.g. Ref. [54, p. 70]. Here only a is restricted to have an argument between $-\frac{\pi}{2}$ and $\frac{\pi}{2}$, but not $1 - \frac{2y}{a}$. Combining Eqs. (C.23) and (C.24) and letting x = a - y we get

$$\int_0^{\pi} e^{y\cos t}\cos\left(x\sin t - \nu t\right) dt - \sin\nu\pi \int_0^{\infty} e^{-\nu t - y\cosh t - x\sinh t} dt = \pi \left(\frac{x - y}{x + y}\right)^{-\frac{\nu}{2}} J_{\nu} \left[\left(x + y\right) \left(\frac{x - y}{x + y}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right], \quad \text{valid for } \Re(x + y) > 0. \quad (C.25)$$

There are two differences between Eq. (C.25) and the equation given in Ref. [55, p. 82]. The first one concerns the argument of the Bessel function, as we already pointed out. The second one is in the way the factor $\left(\frac{x-y}{x+y}\right)^{-\frac{\nu}{2}}$ is written. It was replaced by $\left(\frac{x+y}{x-y}\right)^{\frac{\nu}{2}}$ which does not give an identical value in some cases, for the same reason as already mentioned above: from Ref. [54, p. 70] $a^{\nu} \left(\frac{1}{a}\right)^{\nu} \neq 1$ if $\arg a = \pi$ (because then $\arg \frac{1}{a} = \pi$ so $\arg a + \arg \frac{1}{a} > \pi$). One can get a slightly more compact form after some additional algebra. Letting $x - y = ae^{j\theta}$ and

 $x + y = be^{j\phi}$ with $a > 0, b > 0, -\pi < \theta \le \pi$ and $-\pi < \phi \le \pi$, we write

$$(x+y)\sqrt{\frac{x-y}{x+y}} = (x+y)e^{\frac{1}{2}\ln\left(\frac{x-y}{x+y}\right)} = be^{j\phi}e^{\frac{1}{2}(\ln a - \ln b + j\theta - j\phi + 2jm\pi)} = \sqrt{ab}e^{\frac{j}{2}(\theta+\phi)}e^{jm\pi}$$

with m an integer such that m = 0 if $-\pi < \theta - \phi \le \pi$, m = 1 if $\theta - \phi \le -\pi$ and m = -1 if $\theta - \phi > \pi$. Similarly, we have

$$\sqrt{x^2 - y^2} = e^{\frac{1}{2}\ln[(x-y)(x+y)]} = \sqrt{ab}e^{\frac{j}{2}(\theta+\phi)}e^{jn\pi} = (x+y)\sqrt{\frac{x-y}{x+y}}e^{j(n-m)\pi},$$

with n an integer such that n = 0 if $-\pi < \theta + \phi \le \pi$, n = 1 if $\theta + \phi \le -\pi$ and n = -1 if $\theta + \phi > \pi$. Therefore, using Eq. (C.8) we can write

$$J_{\nu}\left(\sqrt{x^{2}-y^{2}}\right) = J_{\nu}\left[(x+y)\left(\frac{x-y}{x+y}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right]e^{j\nu(n-m)\pi}.$$

Now, we also have, with the same m and n defined above:

$$\left(\frac{x-y}{x+y}\right)^{-\frac{\nu}{2}} = e^{-\frac{\nu}{2}\ln\left(\frac{x-y}{x+y}\right)} = \left(\frac{b}{a}\right)^{\frac{\nu}{2}} e^{j\frac{\nu}{2}(\phi-\theta)} e^{-j\nu m\pi}$$

and

$$\frac{(x+y)^{\nu}}{(x^2-y^2)^{\frac{\nu}{2}}} = \frac{b^{\nu}e^{j\nu\phi}}{(ab)^{\frac{\nu}{2}}e^{j\frac{\nu}{2}(\theta+\phi)}e^{j\nu n\pi}} = \left(\frac{b}{a}\right)^{\frac{\nu}{2}}e^{j\frac{\nu}{2}(\phi-\theta)}e^{-j\nu n\pi} = \left(\frac{x-y}{x+y}\right)^{-\frac{\nu}{2}}e^{j\nu(m-n)\pi}$$

We finally obtain:

$$J_{\nu}\left[(x+y)\left(\frac{x-y}{x+y}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right]\left(\frac{x-y}{x+y}\right)^{-\frac{\nu}{2}} = J_{\nu}\left(\sqrt{x^2-y^2}\right)\frac{(x+y)^{\nu}}{(x^2-y^2)^{\frac{\nu}{2}}},$$

such that we can write an equivalent form of Eq. (C.25)

$$\int_{0}^{\pi} e^{y \cos t} \cos\left(x \sin t - \nu t\right) dt - \sin \nu \pi \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\nu t - y \cosh t - x \sinh t} dt = \pi J_{\nu} \left(\sqrt{x^{2} - y^{2}}\right) \frac{(x+y)^{\nu}}{(x^{2} - y^{2})^{\frac{\nu}{2}}}, \quad \text{valid for } \Re(x+y) > 0. \quad (C.26)$$

This relation, which is a generalization of Schläfli's integrals, is quite similar to Eq. 8.413 in Ref. [57, p. 903] that we have quoted above, but according to our derivation there seems to be a sign error in the argument of the Bessel function, in addition to the already mentioned incorrect upper limit of the first integral.

From this equation we would like to compute the following integral, used in the Section 8.2:

$$\int_0^{\pi} \mathrm{d}\phi \cos\left(n\phi\right) \cos\left(k_x r \sin\phi\right) e^{r \cos\phi \sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}}.$$

To do so we first write

$$\cos(n\phi)\cos(k_xr\sin\phi) = \frac{1}{2}\left[\cos(k_xr\sin\phi + n\phi) + \cos(k_xr\sin\phi - n\phi)\right]$$

For the first term we can apply Eq. (C.26) with $x = k_x r$, $y = r \sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}$ and $\nu = -n$, giving (since $\sin \nu \pi = 0$ here):

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_0^{\pi} d\phi \cos(k_x r \sin\phi + n\phi) e^{r \cos\phi} \sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}} = \frac{\pi}{2} \frac{r^{-n} \left(k_x + \sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}\right)^{-n}}{\left(-\frac{k^2 r^2}{\gamma^2}\right)^{-\frac{n}{2}}} J_{-n} \left(j\frac{kr}{\gamma}\right)$$
$$= \frac{\pi}{2} j^n \left(k_x + \sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}\right)^{-n} \frac{k^n}{\gamma^n} j^{-n} I_n \left(\frac{kr}{\gamma}\right)$$
using Eqs. (C.3) and (C.6)
$$= \frac{\pi}{2} \left(k_x + \sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}\right)^{-n} \frac{k^n}{\gamma^n} I_n \left(\frac{kr}{\gamma}\right).$$

Similarly we get for the other term, this time with $\nu = n$ in Eq. (C.26)

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_0^{\pi} d\phi \cos(k_x r \sin \phi - n\phi) e^{r \cos \phi \sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}} = \frac{\pi}{2} \frac{r^n \left(k_x + \sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}\right)^n}{\left(-\frac{k^2 r^2}{\gamma^2}\right)^{\frac{n}{2}}} J_n\left(j\frac{kr}{\gamma}\right)$$
$$= \frac{\pi}{2} j^{-n} \left(k_x + \sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}\right)^n \frac{\gamma^n}{k^n} j^n I_n\left(\frac{kr}{\gamma}\right)$$
$$= \frac{\pi}{2} \left(k_x + \sqrt{k_x^2 + \frac{k^2}{\gamma^2}}\right)^n \frac{\gamma^n}{k^n} I_n\left(\frac{kr}{\gamma}\right).$$

Adding the two we finally get

$$\int_{0}^{\pi} d\phi \cos(n\phi) \cos(k_{x}r\sin\phi) e^{r\cos\phi\sqrt{k_{x}^{2}+\frac{k^{2}}{\gamma^{2}}}} = \frac{\pi}{2} I_{n}\left(\frac{kr}{\gamma}\right) \left[\left(k_{x}+\sqrt{k_{x}^{2}+\frac{k^{2}}{\gamma^{2}}}\right)^{-n}\frac{k^{n}}{\gamma^{n}} + \left(k_{x}+\sqrt{k_{x}^{2}+\frac{k^{2}}{\gamma^{2}}}\right)^{n}\frac{\gamma^{n}}{k^{n}}\right]. \quad (C.27)$$

D Appendix **D**: Consequences of Eq. (6.25) for all the layers boundaries

In Section 6.2, we could not prove that the horizontal wave numbers k_x and $k_{x_h}^{(1)}$ are equal in the case when for all the boundaries Eq. (6.25) is true. We will show here what are the consequences for the fields of such a situation.

From this equation together with the continuity of E_s and H_s as stated in Eqs. (6.16) and (6.17) (dropping the sine and cosine factors thanks to Eqs. (6.21) and (6.22)), we have at each boundary $y = b^{(p)}$ with $1 \le p \le N - 1$:

$$C_{e+}^{(p)}e^{k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p)}e^{-k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} = C_{e+}^{(p+1)}e^{k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p+1)}e^{-k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}},$$
(D.1)

$$C_{e+}^{(p)}e^{k_{y}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p)}e^{-k_{y}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} = C_{e+}^{(p+1)}e^{k_{y}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p+1)}e^{-k_{y}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}}, \tag{D.1}$$

$$\frac{k_{y}^{(p)}\varepsilon_{c}^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^{2}}} \left[C_{e+}^{(p)}e^{k_{y}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p)}e^{-k_{y}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} \right] = \frac{k_{y}^{(p+1)}\varepsilon_{c}^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^{2}}} \left[C_{e+}^{(p+1)}e^{k_{y}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p+1)}e^{-k_{y}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} \right], \tag{D.2}$$

$$C_{h+}^{(p)}e^{k_{y_h}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} + C_{h-}^{(p)}e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} = C_{h+}^{(p+1)}e^{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} + C_{h-}^{(p+1)}e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}},$$
(D.3)

$$\frac{k_{y_h}^{(p)}\mu^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left[C_{h+}^{(p)} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} - C_{h-}^{(p)} e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} \right] = \frac{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}\mu^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} \left[C_{h+}^{(p+1)} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} - C_{h-}^{(p+1)} e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} \right].$$
(D.4)

Putting together first Eqs. (D.1) and (D.2), then Eqs. (D.3) and (D.4), and writing them in matrix form, we have

$$\begin{bmatrix} e^{k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} & e^{-k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} \\ \frac{k_y^{(p+1)}\varepsilon_c^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} & -\frac{k_y^{(p+1)}\varepsilon_c^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{-k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{e+}^{(p+1)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p)}e^{k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p)}e^{-k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} \\ \frac{k_y^{(p)}\varepsilon_c^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left\{ C_{e+}^{(p)}e^{k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p)}e^{-k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} \right\} \end{bmatrix}$$

and

$$\begin{bmatrix} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} & e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} \\ \frac{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}\mu^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} & -\frac{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}\mu^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{h+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{h+}^{(p+1)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} C_{h+}^{(p)}e^{k_{y_h}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} + C_{h-}^{(p)}e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} \\ \frac{k_{y_h}^{(p)}\mu^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} \left\{ C_{h+}^{(p)}e^{k_{y_h}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} - C_{h-}^{(p)}e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} \right\} \end{bmatrix}$$

These can be solved readily using the inversion formula of a 2×2 matrix (see Appendix E), noticing that the determinant of the left hand side matrix is equal to $-\frac{2k_y^{(p+1)}\varepsilon_c^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}$ for the first equation and $\frac{2k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}\mu^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}}$ for the second one. We get

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{e-}^{(p+1)} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{-\nu^{(p+1)2}}{2k_y^{(p+1)}\varepsilon_c^{(p+1)}} \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{k_y^{(p+1)}\varepsilon_c^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)2}}e^{-k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} & -e^{-k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} \\ -\frac{k_y^{(p+1)}\varepsilon_c^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)2}}e^{k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} & e^{k_y^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \\ \cdot \begin{bmatrix} e^{k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} & e^{-k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} \\ \frac{k_y^{(p)}\varepsilon_c^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)2}}e^{k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} & -\frac{k_y^{(p)}\varepsilon_c^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)2}}e^{-k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p)} \\ C_{e+}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (D.5)$$

and

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{h+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{h-}^{(p+1)} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{-\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{2k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}\mu^{(p+1)}} \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}\mu^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} & -e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} \\ -\frac{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}\mu^{(p+1)}}{\nu^{(p+1)^2}} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} & e^{k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \\ \cdot \begin{bmatrix} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p)}\mu^{(p)}} & e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} \\ \frac{k_{y_h}^{(p)}\mu^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{k_{y_h}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} & -\frac{k_{y_h}^{(p)}\mu^{(p)}}{\nu^{(p)^2}} e^{-k_{y_h}^{(p)}b^{(p)}} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{h+}^{(p)} \\ C_{h-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix} . \quad (D.6)$$

We call $M_e^{p+1,p}$ and $M_h^{p+1,p}$ the matrices relating respectively $\begin{vmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{e+}^{(p+1)} \end{vmatrix}$ to $\begin{vmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p)} \\ C_{e+}^{(p+1)} \end{vmatrix}$ and $\begin{vmatrix} C_{h+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{h+}^{(p+1)} \end{vmatrix}$ to

 $\begin{bmatrix} C_{h+}^{(p)} \\ C_{h-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix}, \text{ i.e. the product of the two } 2 \times 2 \text{ matrices in Eqs. (D.5) and (D.6), multiplied respectively}$ by $\frac{-\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{2k_y^{(p+1)}\varepsilon_c^{(p+1)}}$ and $\frac{-\nu^{(p+1)^2}}{2k_{y_h}^{(p+1)}\mu^{(p+1)}}.$ When successively applying the relations (D.5) and (D.6) for each boundary, we get¹⁴

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{h+}^{(N)} \\ C_{h-}^{(N)} \end{bmatrix} = M_h^{N,N-1} \cdot M_h^{N-1,N-2} \cdots M_h^{2,1} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{h+}^{(1)} \\ C_{h-}^{(1)} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (D.8)

We focus now on the electric field longitudinal component E_s . There are two possible cases, depending if $k_y^{(N)}$ is purely imaginary or not. In the first case, as seen in Section 6.3 we have Cherenkov radiation in the outer infinite layer, and only the outgoing wave can be present, therefore $C_{e+}^{(N)} = 0$. In the second case, the real part of $k_y^{(N)}$ being strictly positive from Eq. (6.21) and the definition of the square root in Eq. (4.7), we have also necessarily $C_{e+}^{(N)} = 0$ since the exponentially growing solution in y in not physical. We can therefore rewrite Eq. (D.7), with the definition $\mathcal{M}(e) = M_e^{N,N-1} \cdot M_e^{N-1,N-2} \cdots M_e^{2,1}$:

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0\\ C_{e-}^{(N)} \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{M}(e) \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(1)}\\ C_{e-}^{(1)} \end{bmatrix}$$

Then

$$\mathcal{M}_{11}(e)C_{e+}^{(1)} + \mathcal{M}_{12}(e)C_{e-}^{(1)} = 0.$$
 (D.9)

Very similar calculations for the lower layers (-M) to (-1) lead to (with $\mathcal{M}'(e)$ a 2 × 2 matrix defined in a similar way as $\mathcal{M}(e)$)

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(-M)} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{M}'(e) \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(-1)} \\ C_{e-}^{(-1)} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (D.10)$$

which gives

$$\mathcal{M}_{21}'(e)C_{e+}^{(-1)} + \mathcal{M}_{22}'(e)C_{e-}^{(-1)} = 0.$$
(D.11)

¹⁴Note that when writing Eq. (D.5) we have implicitely assumed that $k_y^{(p+1)} \neq 0$. Actually $k_y^{(p+1)} = 0$ can happen if $\nu^{(p+1)}$ is purely imaginary and if $k_x^2 = -\nu^{(p+1)^2}$ from Eq. (6.21). If this happens, in layer (p+1) E_s is independent of y and what matters is only the constant $C_{e+}^{(p+1)} + C_{e-}^{(p+1)}$, so we can arbitrarily choose that $C_{e+}^{(p+1)} = C_{e-}^{(p+1)} = \frac{C_{e+}^{(p+1)} + C_{e-}^{(p+1)}}{2}$. Then from Eq. (D.2) we have two possible cases: either $k_y^{(p)} = 0$ or $k_y^{(p)} \neq 0$. In the former case, in layer (p) E_s is also independent of y, and then, arbitrarily choosing $C_{e+}^{(p)} = C_{e-}^{(p)} = \frac{C_{e+}^{(p)} + C_{e-}^{(p)}}{2}$ we can still write from Eq. (D.1)

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p+1)} \\ C_{e-}^{(p+1)} \end{bmatrix} = M_e^{p+1,p} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e+}^{(p)} \\ C_{e-}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix},$$

with $M_e^{p+1,p}$ the 2×2 identity matrix. If $k_y^{(p)} \neq 0$ then Eq. (D.1) with $C_{e+}^{(p)} e^{k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} - C_{e-}^{(p)} e^{-k_y^{(p)} b^{(p)}} = 0$ from Eq. (D.2) will give also the same kind of matrix relation. Therefore the general conclusion is conserved, namely Eq. (D.7). This argument also applies to H_s when $k_{y_h}^{(p+1)} = 0$.

Writing then the equations (6.5), (D.9) and (D.11) in matrix form we get

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & -1 \\ \mathcal{M}_{11}(e) & \mathcal{M}_{12}(e) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \mathcal{M}'_{21}(e) & \mathcal{M}'_{22}(e) \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{e^+}^{(1)} \\ C_{e^+}^{(1)} \\ C_{e^-}^{(-1)} \\ C_{e^+}^{(-1)} \\ C_{e^-}^{(-1)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\mathcal{C}\frac{e^{-k_y^{(1)}y_1}}{k_y^{(1)}} \\ \mathcal{C}\frac{e^{k_y^{(1)}y_1}}{k_y^{(1)}} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} .$$
(D.12)

This means that those four integration constants of E_s (and consequently all the others) are fully determined, except in the rather exceptional case when the determinant of the 4 × 4 matrix above – namely $\mathcal{M}_{11}(e)\mathcal{M}'_{22}(e) - \mathcal{M}_{12}(e)\mathcal{M}'_{21}(e)$ – is zero (this would require a very particular relation to hold between k_x and all the material constants, so is probably possible only for discrete values of k_x which is then of no significance for the total fields obtained after continuous integration over k_x). Then we necessarily have $\nu^{(p+1)} = \nu^{(p)}$ for all the layers: if this was not the case for one layer then Eq. (6.25) gives for that layer the additional relation, assuming $k_x \neq 0$ (the case $k_x = 0$ is again of no significance, for the same reason as above)

$$C_{e+}^{(p)}e^{k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} + C_{e-}^{(p)}e^{-k_y^{(p)}b^{(p)}} = 0,$$

for e.g. the upper part of the chamber (the same applying also for the lower part). This relation will propagate to all the other layers through the continuity of E_s (see Eq. (D.1)), and will give in particular

$$C_{e+}^{(1)}e^{k_y^{(1)}b^{(1)}} + C_{e-}^{(1)}e^{-k_y^{(1)}b^{(1)}} = 0.$$

This gives another equation incompatible with the system (D.12) above, unless $\mathcal{M}_{11}(e)e^{-k_y^{(1)}b^{(1)}} - \mathcal{M}_{12}(e)e^{k_y^{(1)}b^{(1)}} = 0$, which again should concern at worst some discrete values of k_x , so is of no significance.

Therefore one of the consequences of Eq. (6.25) is that all the layers have the same propagation constant, namely that of vacuum $\nu = \frac{k}{\gamma}$ (γ being the relativistic mass factor), which also means that $\varepsilon_1 \mu_1 = 1$ for all the flat chamber materials.

Very similar considerations apply to H_s . Defining $\mathcal{M}(h) = M_h^{N,N-1} \cdot M_h^{N-1,N-2} \cdots M_h^{2,1}$ we have indeed from Eq. (D.8)

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0\\ C_{h-}^{(N)} \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{M}(h) \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{h+}^{(1)}\\ C_{h-}^{(1)} \end{bmatrix}$$

For the layers in the lower part a similar relation is obtained:

$$\begin{bmatrix} C_{h+}^{(-M)} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{M}'(h) \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{h+}^{(-1)} \\ C_{h-}^{(-1)} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (D.13)$$

with a different 2×2 matrix $\mathcal{M}'(h)$. In the end, as for E_s we obtain the two following relations:

$$\mathcal{M}_{11}(h)C_{h+}^{(1)} + \mathcal{M}_{12}(h)C_{h-}^{(1)} = 0,$$
 (D.14)

and

$$\mathcal{M}_{21}^{\prime}(h)C_{h+}^{(-1)} + \mathcal{M}_{22}^{\prime}(h)C_{h-}^{(-1)} = 0.$$
(D.15)

These two equations together with Eqs. (6.9) can be put in matrix form:

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & -1 \\ \mathcal{M}_{11}(h) & \mathcal{M}_{12}(h) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \mathcal{M}'_{21}(h) & \mathcal{M}'_{22}(h) \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} C_{h+}^{(1)} \\ C_{h-}^{(1)} \\ C_{h+}^{(-1)} \\ C_{h-}^{(-1)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (D.16)

Contrary to the case of E_s , the right hand side of this system is zero, therefore the only solution is when all the constants of H_s for the layers (-1) and (1) are zero (except again in the rather exceptional case when the determinant of the 4×4 matrix above, namely $\mathcal{M}_{11}(h)\mathcal{M}'_{22}(h) - \mathcal{M}_{12}(h)\mathcal{M}'_{21}(h)$, is zero). From the matrix relations between the constants of subsequent layers this will then have as a consequence that all the constants of H_s in all the layers are zero, so $H_s = 0$ everywhere.

In conclusion, if Eq. (6.25) is true for all the layers, it has for consequences that $\varepsilon_1 \mu_1 = 1$ for all the layers and $H_s = 0$ everywhere.

E Appendix E: Inversion of a 2×2 matrix

Given a 2×2 matrix of the form

$$M = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix},\tag{E.1}$$

whose determinant ad - bc is non zero, its inverse is given by

$$M^{-1} = \frac{1}{ad - bc} \begin{bmatrix} d & -b \\ -c & a \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (E.2)

This can be checked simply by multiplying the two matrices.

List of notations

$(\vec{e_x}, \vec{e_y}, \vec{e_s})$	Basis vectors in the cartesian system of coordinates	5
(p)	Superscript added to all the quantities related to the layer $\pm p$ (with p strictly positive integer)	6
(r, θ, s)	Cylindrical coordinates	4
(x, y, s)	Cartesian coordinates	4
*	Complex conjugate	7
b	Half gap of the flat chamber	4
$b^{(p)}$	Vertical coordinate of the outer boundary of the layer (p)	6
\vec{B}	$\mu \vec{H}$ i.e. magnetic induction (components: B_x, B_y, B_s)	6
c	Speed of light in vacuum (299792458 m/s)	9
\mathcal{C}	$\frac{jQ\omega\mu_0}{2\pi\beta^2\gamma^2}$	3
$C_{e\perp}^{(p)}$	Integration constant in front of the exponential having a plus sign in its argument, in $F_c^{(p)}$ 1	0
$C^{(p)}$	Integration constant in front of the exponential having a minus sign in its argument in $E^{(p)}$ 1	Õ
$C^{(p)}$	Integration constant in front of the exponential having a plug given in its argument, in $D_s^{(p)}$ 1	с С
C_{g+} $C^{(p)}$	Integration constant in front of the exponential naving a plus sign in its argument, in G_s	0
C_{g-}	Integration constant in front of the exponential having a minus sign in its argument, in $G_s^{(n)}$ 1	6
$C_{h+}^{(n)}$	Integration constant in front of the exponential having a plus sign in its argument, in $H_s^{(p)}$ 1	0
$C_{h-}^{(p)}$	Integration constant in front of the exponential having a minus sign in its argument, in $H_s^{(p)}$ 1	0
$D_{\vec{J}}$	Electric displacement (components: D_x, D_y, D_s)	6
Ė	Electric field (components: E_x, E_y, E_s)	6
$E_{s,tot}^{vac,SC}$	Longitudinal component of the total electric field in the vacuum region, direct space charge part $\dots 2$	4
$E_{s,tot}^{vac,W}$	Longitudinal component of the total electric field in the vacuum region, wall part	4
\vec{F}	Electromagnetic (or Lorentz) force (components: F_x, F_y, F_s)	3
\vec{G}	$Z_0 \vec{H}$ (components: G_x, G_y, G_s)	6
\vec{H}	Magnetic field (components: H_x , H_u , H_s)	6
I_{ν}	Modified Bessel function of the first kind of order ν	4
j	Imaginary constant $(\sqrt{-1})$	5
J	Current density of the source macroparticle (along the s axis)	5
\widetilde{J}	Horizontal cosine Fourier transform of J , keeping the cosine factor	5
k	Longitudinal wave number	5
k_x	Horizontal wave number of the source surface charge density and of the electromagnetic fields $\ldots \ldots$	5
k_{x_e}	Horizontal wave number of the longitudinal component of the electric field	9
k_{x_h}	Horizontal wave number of the longitudinal component of the magnetic field	9
k_y	Vertical wave number of the electromagnetic fields1	2
k_{y_e}	Vertical wave number of the longitudinal component of the electric field1	0
k_{y_h}	Vertical wave number of the longitudinal component of the magnetic field	0
K_{ν}	Modified Bessel function of the second kind of order ν	4
L M	Length of the flat chamber (along the s axis)	6
N	Number of layers above the plane $y = y_1$ (including one layer of vacuum for $y_1 < y < y_1$)	6
a	Test particle charge $2 = g_1$ (including one rayer of vacuum for $g_1 < g < 0$)	3
Q	Source macroparticle charge	4
t	Time	4
x_1	Horizontal coordinate of the source macroparticle	4
x_2	Horizontal coordinate of the test particle	7
$\overline{y_1}$	Vertical coordinate of the source macroparticle	4
y_2	Vertical coordinate of the test particle	7
Z_0	Free space impedance1	6
Z_{\parallel}	Total longitudinal impedance	7
$Z_{\parallel}^{SC,direct}$	Longitudinal direct space-charge impedance	8
Z_{\parallel}^{Wall}	Longitudinal wall impedance	8
$Z^{Wall,0}_{\parallel}$	Zeroth order term in the longitudinal wall impedance	1
Z_r^{\parallel}	Total horizontal transverse impedance	7
$Z_r^{SC,direct}$	Horizontal transverse direct space-charge impedance	8
Z_r^{Wall}	Horizontal transverse wall impedance	9
$Z_x^{Wall,dip}$	Horizontal dipolar wall impedance	2
$Z_x^{\overline{W}all,quad}$	Horizontal quadrupolar wall impedance	2

Z_y	Total vertical transverse impedance	7
$Z_{u}^{SC,direct}$	Vertical transverse direct space-charge impedance	8
Z_{u}^{Wall}	Vertical transverse wall impedance	0
$Z_{u}^{Wall,0}$	Zeroth order term in the vertical wall impedance	1
$Z_{u}^{Wall,dip}$	Vertical dipolar wall impedance	2
$Z_{u}^{Wall,quad}$	Vertical quadrupolar wall impedance	2
α_{mn}	Coef. of the decomposition of $E_{s,tot}^{vac,W}$ into azimuthal modes (m^{th} of the source and n^{th} of the test) 2	6
β	Relativistic velocity factor of the source and test particles1	0
γ	Relativistic mass factor of the source and test particles1	2
δ	Dirac distribution (or delta function)	4
δ_{n0}	1 if $n = 0, 0$ otherwise	5
ε_0	Permittivity of vacuum	6
ε_1	Relative complex permittivity of the medium (including conductivity)	6
ε_b	Dielectric constant of the medium (real)	6
ε_c	Complex permittivity of the medium (including conductivity)	6
η_1	Coefficient relating $-C_{e+}^{(1)} \frac{k_y^{(1)}}{C_{(1)}}$ to $e^{-k_y^{(1)}y_1}$	3
η_2	Coefficient relating $-C_{e^-}^{(-1)} \frac{k_y^{(1)}}{C}$ to $e^{-k_y^{(1)}y_1}$	3
$ an \vartheta_E$	Dielectric loss tangent	6
$ an \vartheta_M$	Magnetic loss tangent	6
μ	Complex permeability of the medium	6
μ_0	Permeability of vacuum $(4\pi 10^{-7} \text{ H/m})$	6
μ_1	Relative complex permeability of the medium	6
μ_r	Real part of the relative complex permeability of the medium	6
ν	Propagation constant in the medium1	0
ho	Charge density of the source macroparticle	4
$\tilde{ ho}$	Horizontal cosine Fourier transform of ρ , keeping the cosine factor	5
σ_{DC}	DC (i.e. at zero frequency) conductivity (real)	6
au	Relaxation time of the complex AC conductivity	6
v	Velocity of the source and test particles	4
ϕ	$\theta - \frac{\pi}{2}$	5
χ_1	Coefficient relating $-C_{e+}^{(1)} \frac{k_y^{(1)}}{C_{(1)}}$ to $e^{k_y^{(1)}y_1}$	3
χ_2	Coefficient relating $-C_{e-}^{(-1)} \frac{k_y^{(1)}}{C}$ to $e^{k_y^{(1)}y_1}$	3
ω	Angular frequency	5

References

- L. J. Laslett, V. K. Neil, and A. M. Sessler. Transverse resistive instabilities of intense coasting beams in particle accelerators. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.*, 36:436–448, 1965.
- B. Zotter. Transverse oscillations of a relativistic particle beam in a laminated vacuum chamber, 1969. Report No. CERN-69-15.
- B. Zotter. Longitudinal instabilities of charged particle beams inside cylindrical walls of finite thickness. Part. Accel., 1:311–326, 1970.
- [4] B. Zotter. New results on the impedance of resistive metal walls of finite thickness, 2005. Report No. CERN-AB-2005-043.
- [5] E. Métral, B. Zotter, and B. Salvant. Resistive-wall impedance of an infinitely long multi-layer cylindrical beam pipe. In 22nd Particle Accelerator Conference, Albuquerque, USA, pages 4216–4218, 2007.
- [6] N. Mounet and E. Métral. Electromagnetic fields created by a macroparticle in an infinitely long and axisymmetric multilayer beam pipe, 2009. Report No. CERN-BE-2009-039.
- [7] R. L. Gluckstern, J. van Zeijts, and B. Zotter. Coupling impedance of beam pipes of general cross section. *Phys. Rev. E*, 47:656–663, 1993.
- [8] K. Yokoya. Resistive wall impedance of beam pipes of general cross section. Part. Acc., 41:221, 1993. Also published as KEK Preprint 92-196.
- [9] L. J. Laslett. On intensity limitations imposed by transverse space-charge effects in circular particle accelerators. In J. W. Bittner, editor, Brookhaven Summer Study on Storage Rings, Accelerators and Experimentation at Super-High Energies, BNL, Upton, NY, pages 324–367, 1963. Brookhaven National Laboratory Report BNL-7534.
- [10] B. Salvant, N. Mounet, C. Zannini, E. Métral, and G. Rumolo. Quadrupolar transverse impedance of simple models of kickers. In 1st International Particle Accelerator Conference, Kyoto, Japan, pages 2054–2056, 2010.
- [11] J. D. Jackson. Classical Electrodynamics. John Wiley and Sons, 3rd edition, 1998.
- [12] F. Roncarolo, F. Caspers, T. Kroyer, E. Métral, N. Mounet, B. Salvant, and B. Zotter. Comparison between laboratory measurements, simulations and analytical predictions of the transverse wall impedance at low frequencies. *Phys. Rev. ST Accel. Beams*, 12(084401), 2009.
- [13] O. S. Brüning, P. Collier, P. Lebrun, S. Myers, R. Ostojic, J. Poole, and P. Proudlock, editors. LHC Design Report. Volume 1: the LHC Main Ring, 2004. CERN. Chapter 5, Report No. CERN-2004-003-V-1.
- [14] A. Piwinski. Longitudinal and transverse wake fields in flat vacuum chambers, 1984. Report No. DESY 84-097.
- [15] A. Burov and V. Lebedev. Tranverse resistive wall impedance for multi-layer flat chambers. In 8th European Particle Accelerator Conference, Paris, France, pages 1455–1457, 2002.
- [16] A. Piwinski. Wake fields and ohmic losses in flat vacuum chambers, 1992. Report No. DESY-HERA 92-04.
- [17] K. Bane, Y. Cai, A. Drozhdin, R. Helm, L. Keller, J. Irwin, R. Messner, R. Nelson, T. Raubenheimer, G. Stupakov, F. Tian, D. Walz, M. Woodley, Y. Yan, and F. Zimmermann. Chap. 9: Collimation systems. In Zeroth-Order design report for the Next Linear Collider, page 571. SLAC, 1996. Report No. LBNL-5424, SLAC-R-474, UC-414, UCRL-ID-124161; http://www.slac.stanford.edu/accel/nlc/zdr/Snowmass96/ZDRCH09.PDF.
- [18] F. Zimmermann. Coherent and incoherent tune shift induced by the nonlinear flat-chamber resistive-wall wake field with an application to the LHC collimator experiment in the SPS, 2006. CERN-AB-Note-2006-007 ABP.
- [19] H. Henke and O. Napoly. Wake fields between two parallel resistive plates. In 2nd European Particle Accelerator Conference, Nice, France, pages 1046–1048, 1990.
- [20] A. Faltens and L. J. Laslett. Longitudinal coupling impedance of a stationary electron ring in a cylindrical geometry. *Part. Accel.*, 4:151–157, 1973.

- [21] R. L. Warnock and P. Morton. Fields excited by a beam in a smooth toroidal chamber. Part 1: Longitudinal coupling impedance, 1988. SLAC - PUB - 4562 - also published in Part. Accel., vol. 25 (1990), p. 113.
- [22] K. Y. Ng, 1990. In Part. Accel. (1990), vol. 25, p. 153.
- [23] B. Zotter. Potential and wave equations in toroidal coordinates, 1977. CERN ISR-TH/77-56.
- [24] H. Hahn. Longitudinal coupling impedance of toroidal beam tube, 1988. BNL-41654 DE88 016762.
- [25] H. Hahn and S. Tepikian. On the longitudinal coupling impedance of a toroidal beam tube. In EPAC 90 -2nd European Particle Accelerator Conference ACROPOLIS, Nice (France), 1990.
- [26] A. W. Chao. Physics of Collective Beams Instabilities in High Energy Accelerators. John Wiley and Sons, 1993.
- [27] B. Zotter and F. J. Sacherer. Transverse instabilities of relativistic particle beams in accelerators and storage rings. In M. H. Blewett, editor, 1st International School of Particle Accelerators "Ettore Majorana", pages 175–218. CERN, Nov. 1976. Report No. CERN-77-13.
- [28] J. L. Laclare. Bunched beam coherent instabilities. In S. Turner, editor, CAS CERN Accelerator School : Accelerator Physics, Oxford, UK, 16 - 27 Sep 1985, pages 264–326. CERN, 1987. Report No. CERN-87-03-V-1, http://cdsweb.cern.ch/record/611596/files/p264.pdf.
- [29] E. W. Weisstein. Delta function. MathWorld A Wolfram Web Resource, 2010. http://mathworld.wolfram.com/DeltaFunction.html.
- [30] R. L. Gluckstern. Analytic methods for calculating coupling impedances, 2000. Report No. CERN-2000-011.
- [31] T. Suzuki. Fundamentals of the theory of collective beam instabilities, 1998. KEK Preprint 98-127.
- [32] N. W. Ashcroft and N. D. Mermin. Solid State Physics. Saunders College Holt, Rinehart and Winston, international edition, 1976.
- [33] J. T. Rogers, S. De Panfilis, A. C. Melissinos, B. E. Moskowitz, Y. K. Semertzidis, W. U. Wuensch, H. J. Halama, A. G. Prodell, W. B. Fowler, and F. A. Nezrick. Anomalous RF magnetoresistance in copper at 4 K. Appl. Phys. Lett., 52:2266–2268, 1988.
- [34] G. E. H. Reuter and E. H. Sondheimer. The theory of the anomalous skin effect in metals. Proc. R. Soc. London, Ser. A, 195:336–364, 1948.
- [35] H. London. The high-frequency resistance of superconducting tin. Proc. R. Soc. London, Ser. A, 176:522–533, 1940.
- [36] A. B. Pippard. The surface impedance of superconductors and normal metals at high frequencies. II. The anomalous skin effect in normal metals. Proc. R. Soc. London, Ser. A, 191:385–399, 1947.
- [37] R. G. Chambers. The anomalous skin effect. Proc. R. Soc. London, Ser. A, 215:481–497, 1952.
- [38] D. C. Mattis and J. Bardeen. Theory of the anomalous skin effect in normal and superconducting metals. *Phys. Rev.*, 111:412–417, 1958.
- [39] J. P. Turneaure, J. Halbritter, and H. A. Schwettman. The surface impedance of superconductors and normal conductors: The Mattis-Bardeen theory. J. Superconductivity, 4:341–355, 1991.
- [40] W. Chou and F. Ruggiero. Anomalous skin effect and resistive wall heating, 1995. CERN LHC Project Note No. 2 (SL/AP).
- [41] F. Zimmermann and K. Oide. Resistive-wall wake and impedance for nonultrarelativistic beams. Phys. Rev. ST Accel. Beams, 7(044201), 2004.
- [42] L. D. Landau, E. M. Lifshitz, and L. P. Pitaevskii. *Electrodynamics of Continuous Media*. Elsevier Butterworth-Heinemann, 2nd edition, 1993.
- [43] H. Hahn and D. Davino. Resistive coatings on layered accelerator structures with rectangular cross section, 2002. BNL/SNS Technical note 103.

- [44] E. W. Weisstein. Fourier series. MathWorld A Wolfram Web Resource, 2010. http://mathworld.wolfram.com/FourierSeries.html.
- [45] F. J. Sacherer. Transverse bunched beam instabilitites theory. In 9th International Conference on High Energy Accelerators, Stanford, California, USA, pages 347–351, 1974.
- [46] H. Tsutsui. On single wire technique for transverse coupling impedance measurement, 2002. CERN-SL-Note-2002-034 AP.
- [47] B. Zotter and S. Kheifeits. Impedances and Wakes in High-Energy Particle Accelerators. World Scientific, 1998.
- [48] A. Burov and V. Danilov. Suppression of transverse bunch instabilities by asymmetries in the chamber geometry. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 82:2286–2289, 1999.
- [49] K. Y. Ng. Physics of Intensity Dependent Instabilities, chapter 4. Asian Scientific, 2006. Also in USPAS Lecture Notes by K. Y. Ng, Los Angeles, Jan. 2002, http://www-ap.fnal.gov/ng/uspas02/chapter4.pdf.
- [50] E. Métral. Space charge, 2009. USPAS Course on Collective Effects in Beam Dynamics for Particle Accelerators, Albuquerque, New Mexico, USA, http://impedance.web.cern.ch/impedance/USPAS/SpaceCharge.pdf, slide 35.
- [51] N. Mounet and E. Métral. Generalized form factors for the beam coupling impedances in a flat chamber. In *1st International Particle Accelerator Conference, Kyoto, Japan*, pages 2042–2044, 2010.
- [52] N. Mounet and E. Métral. Impedances of two dimensional multilayer cylindrical and flat chambers in the non-ultrarelativistic case. In HB2010, 46th ICFA Advanced Beam Dynamics Workshop on High-Intensity and High-Brightness Hadron Beams, Morschach, Switzerland, 2010.
- [53] E. W. Weisstein. Cartesian coordinates. MathWorld A Wolfram Web Resource, 2010. http://mathworld.wolfram.com/CartesianCoordinates.html.
- [54] M. Abramowitz and I. A. Stegun, editors. Handbook of Mathematical Functions With Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables. US Dep. of Commerce, National Bureau of Standards, 1972. Tenth Printing, with corrections, http://www.iopb.res.in/~somen/abramowitz_and_stegun/toc.htm.
- [55] A. Erdélyi, W. Magnus, F. Oberhettinger, and F. G. Tricomi. *Higher Transcendental Functions*, volume 2. McGraw-Hill, 1953.
- [56] A. Erdélyi, W. Magnus, F. Oberhettinger, and F. G. Tricomi. Tables of Integral Transforms, volume 1. McGraw-Hill, 1954.
- [57] I. S. Gradshteyn and I. M. Ryzhik. Table of Integrals, Series, and Products. Academic Press, 6th edition, 2000. Editors A. Jeffrey and D. Zwillinger.
- [58] C. G. Lambe. A generalization of Bessel's integrals. J. London Math. Soc., 6:257–259, 1931.
- [59] G. N. Watson. A Treatise on the Theory of Bessel Functions. Cambridge University Press, 2nd edition, 1966.